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CAUSE NO. 07-03807-D

JOHN DOE I and JOHN j)OE 111, IN THE DISTRICT COURT

Through His Mother as Next Friend of
John Doe II, a Vulnerable (Non Compos
Mentis) Adult, JOHN DOE III, JOHN
DOE IV and JOHN DOE V .

'95TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT

V.

§
§

§
§
§
§
g
REVEREND NICHOLAS E. KATINAS, §
Pastor (Formerly) of Holy Trinity Greek §
Orthodox Church, HOLY TRINITY GREEK §
ORTHODOX CHURCH; THE GREEK §
ORTHODOX METROPOLIS OF DENVER §
BY AND THROUGH BISHOP ISAIAH §
OF DENVER IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY,  §
And THE GREEK ORTHODOX §
ARCHDIOCESE OF AMERICA BY AND §
THROUGH ARCHBISHOP DEMETRIOS §
§

IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY DALLAS COUNTY, TEXAS

PLAINTIFF JOHN DOE IV’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’
MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

To the Honorable Karen Gren Johnson:

Plaintiff John Doe IV (“Doe 1V™) files this Response to (i) Defendants, the Greek
Orthodox Archdiocese of America and the Greek Orthodox Metropolis of Denver’s, Motion for
Summary Judgment as to Plaintiff John Doe IV (“GOAA Motion™), and (2) Holy Trinity Greek
Orthodox Church’s Motion for Summary Judgment as to Doe IV’s Claims (“HT Motion™), and
respectfully shows the Court the following:

L

Introduction

This case is about an egregious pattern of sexual abuse by defendant Father Nicholas
Katinas (“Katinas”) and an equally disturbing pattern of denial and cover-up by the Greek

Orthodox Archdiocese of America (*GOAA™), the Greek Orthodox Metropolis of Denver

PLAINTIFF JOHN DOE IV’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT — Pagel



(*Metropolis”), and Holy Trinity Greek Orthodox Church ("Holy Trinity) (collectively,
“Defendants™) that 7employérdr Katinas and pave him unfettered access tb minors, including
DoeIV.! The Defendants were fully aware of Katinaa-:.’s sexual proclivities toward adolescent
boys and his troubled g;éreer thaf was marked by complaints égains_t, him for sexual miscondtict.
But 'despite those risl‘,;s to_ boys, potential }iabﬁity, and warning signs, neither the GOAA
Defendants nor Holy Trinity did anything to s_top_Kaﬁﬁas or fo warn unsuspecting communitim;s
that they had knowingly and recklessly placed a sexual predator in their midst. Instead, the
GOAA Defendants and Holy Trinity were more concerned about avoiding bad publicity and
scandal than protecting thé welfare of the people in Texas where Katin:gls was sent to serve.

Predictably, and consistent with the acknowledged trail of damaged youngsters Katinas
left behind in Illinois, Katinas, with the aid of the GOAA Defendants and Holy Trinity, used this
new opportunity to sexually abuse Doe I, Doe II, Doe IIT, Doe 1V, and Doe V in Dallas, Texas.
And when that abuse finally stopped, Defendants hid behind a veil of secrecy that kept the public
and Katinas’s victims in the dark about Katinas’s history and Defendants’ role in permitting that
history to repeat itsélf --‘over and over again, parish afer parish, victim afier victim - until
Katinas conveniently fled the State of Texas to Greece.

In a transparent attempt to avoid trial for their obvious culpability in exposing Doe IV to
the sexual predation of Katinas in the first place and then concealing their role in abetting the
foreseeable sexual abuse, the GOAA Defendants and Holy Trinity argue that all of Doe IV’s
claims against them are barred by the two-year, four-year, or five-year statute of limitations. As
set forth below, Defendants have failed to meet their summary judgment burden of

demonstrating that Doe IV"s claims are barred by limitations.

' The GOAA and Metropolis will be collectively referred to throughout this Response as “the
GOAA Defendants.”
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I

* Summary of Argument V

For any or all of the reasons outlined below and discussed more fully in this Response,

“Doe IV's claims are not barred by the statute of limitatiohs, and- Defendants’ motions for

summary judgment should be denied:

- premise of Defendants’ motions.

Defendants’ motions_are premised on ome so-called “fact” that is highly
disputed -- Defendants’ motions must be denied because they are premised on
one so-called “fact” that is far from undisputed - namely, that Doe IV was
supposedly aware of the sexual abuse by Katinas “at the time” it occurred. The
summary judgment evidence, however, raises a fact issue that contradicts the very

Doe IV’s claims were tolled while he was minor -- Whatever Doe IV might
have known while he was a minor is irrelevant to the limitations analysis here
because, as a minor, he was under a Jegal disability at the time.

Defendants ignore their own tortious conduct -- Defendants’ motions must be
denied because they ignore their own tortious conduct and the specific claims
asserted against them, and instead focus their arguments exclusively on Katinas’s
sexual abuse, when that abuse occurred, and when Doe IV was supposedly aware

of that abuse.

Defendants have wnot conclusively negated each of Doe IV’s defenses to

limitations, and in any event, the summary judgment evidence raises fact
issues on each disputed element of these defenses - Even if Defendants had
been able to conclusively establish that Doe IV failed to bring suit within the
applicable statute of limitations, Defendants’ motions must be denied for either
one of two reasons. First, Defendants have not conclusively negated all of Doe
IV’s pleaded defenses to the statute of limitations. Second, the summary
Judgment evidence raises a genuine issue of material fact regarding each disputed
element of those defenses.

The discovery rule applies to Doe IV’s claims -- The discovery rule does apply
here because the wrongful acts and Doe IV's injury were inherently
undiscoverable and objectively verifiable. Applying the discovery rule, the
summary judgment evidence demonstrates -- or, at the very least, raises a fact
issue — that Doe IV did not discover the wrongful acts and his resulting injuries

until recently.

Doe IV’s summary judgment evidence shows that he repressed and
suppressed the memory of the sexwal abuse and injuries he suffered --
Defendants’ limitations defense also fails because there is abundant summary
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judgment evidence that Doe 1V repressed and suppressed all memory of the
sexual abuse and the injury he suffered at the hands of Katinas.

. Defendants’ frandulent concealment tolls limitations, and they are estopped
from asserting limitations as a defense - Defendants’ motions must be denied
because the summary judgment evidence further demonstrates that Defendants

* frandulently concealed Doe IV’s claims and are estopped from asserting their
limitations defense under the circumstances here. -

For any one of these feasons, Defendants’ motions for summary judgment must be

" denied.

1.

Summary Judgment Evidence

This response is based upon the following summary judgment evidence attached to the

Appendix of Evidence in Support of Plaintiffs’ Responses to Defendants’ Motions for Summary

Judgment, filed contemporaneously herewith and incorporated by reference herein:?

Exhibit 1:
Exhibit 2:
Exhibit 3:
Exhibit 4:
Exhibit 5:

" Exhibit 6:
Exhibit 7:
Exhibit 8:

Exhibit 9:

Deposition of John Doe I (“Doe I Depo.™)

Deposition of John Doe II (“Doe T Depo.™)

Deposition of John Dee III (“Doe ITI Depo.™)

Deposition of John Doe IV (“Doe TV Depo.™)

Deposition of John Doe V (*Doe V Depo.”)

Deposition of Mother of John Doe II (“Doe I Mother Depo®)
Deposition of Father of John Dde IV (*Doe IV Father Depo.™)
Deposition of George Kachavos (“Kachavos Depo.”)

Letter from Father Katinas, dated June 15, 1978 (“6/15/78 Katinas letter”)
(identified and authenticated as Exhibit 7 to the Deposition of George
Kachavos)

2 To protect their identities, the actual names of Plaintiffs and some of Katinas’s other victims (as
well as other identifying information) have been redacted from the deposition excerpts and affidavits.
Further, because of a protective order, Exhibit Nos. 32-37 described below will be filed in a sealed
envelope for the Cowrt’s in camera review.
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Exhibit 10:
Exhibit 11:

Exhibit 12:

Exhibit 13:
Exhibit 14: -

Exhibit 15:
Exhibit 16:

Exhibit 17:
Exhibit 18:
Exhibit 19:
Exhibit 20:
Exhibit 21:
Exhibit 22:
Exhibit 23:
Exhibit 24:
Exhibit 25:
Exhibit 26:
Exhibit 27:
Exhibit 28:
Exchibit 29:
Exchibit 30:

. Deposition of Leo Manta (“Manta Depo.™)

Deposition of Basil Xeros (“Xeros Depo.”)

Draft Proposed Policies and Procedures for Child Safety at Holy Trinity
(“HT Draft Policies for Child Safety”) (identified and authenticated as
Exhibit 2 to the Deposition of Basil Xeros). - ' '

Deposition of Nicolas Carayannopoulos ( “N. Carayannopoulos Depo.™)

Special Regulations and Uniform Parish Reguliations of the Greek
Orthodox Archdiocese of North and South America (“Uniform Parish
Regulations™) (identified and authenticated as Exhibit 1 to the Deposition
of Nicolas Carayannopoulos and Exhibit 5 to the Deposition of Michael

Kontogiorgis) _
Deposition of Father Wesley Benson Hohnholt (“Hohnholt Depo.”)

Exhibit 3 to the Deposition of Father Gregory Hohnholt (*Hohnholt Depo.
Ex. 3

Deposition of George Chris Michael (“Michael Depo™)

Affidavit of D. Z. (“DZ Aff.”)

Affidavit of S. A. (“SA Aff.”)

Affidavit of T. S. (“TS Af£.”)

Affidavit of S. S. [mother of T, 8.] (“SS AFE”)

Affidavit of Elaine Loumbas (“Loumbas Aff.”)

Affidavit of John Faklis (“Faklis Aff.”)

Affidavit of Harvey Rosenstock, M.D. re: Doe I (“Rosenstock I Aff?)
Affidavit of Harvey Rosenstock, M.D. re: Doe II (“Rosenstock II Aff™)
Affidavit of Harvey Rosenstock, M.D. re: Doe I (“Rosenstock IIT Aff™)
Affidavit of Harvey Rosenstock, M.D. re: Doe IV (“Rosenstock IV Aff™)
Affidavit of Harvey Rosenstock, M.D. re: Doe V (“Rosenstock V AfE™)
Affidavit of Richard Fulbright, Ph.D. re: Doe II (“Fulbright A{f.”")

Affidavit of Catherine Metropoulos (“Metropoulos Aff”)
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Exhibit 31:  Affidavit of Tahira Merritt Khan (“Khan Aff")
Exhibit 32: Depbéition of Father Nicholas Triantafilou (“Triantafilou Depo.”)
Exhibit 33:  Deposition of Father Michael Kontogiorgis (*Kontogiorgis Depo.™)

Exhibit 34; Réport from Saint Luke Institute (“SLI Report”) (identified and
- - authenticated as Exhibit 10 to the Deposition of Michael Kontogiorgis)

- Exhibit 35:  Exhibit 11 to the Deposition of Michael Kontogiorgis (“Kontogiorgis
- Depo. Ex. 117) : -

Exhibit 36:  Spiritual Court of the First Instance - Fr. Nicholas J. Katinas (“Spiritual
Court”) (identified and authenticated as Exhibit 12 to the Deposition of
Michael Kontogiorgis)

Exhibit 37:  Exhibit 14 to the Deposition of Michael Kontogiorgis (“Kontogiorgis
Depo. Ex. 14%)

IV.
Summary Judgment Standards

A motion for summary judgment must “stand or fall on the grounds expressly presented
in the ;xiotion.” MeConnell v. Southside Indep. Sch. Dist., 858 S.W.2d 337, 341 (Tex. 1993). “In
determining whether grounds are expressly presented, reliance may not be placed upon briefs or
summary judgment evidence.” Id As the movénts seeking a traditional summary judgment,
Defendants have the burden under TEX. R. C1v. P. 166a(c) of showing that there is no genuine
issue of material fact and that they are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Nicon v. My
Property Management Co., 690 S.W.2d 546, 548-49 (Tex. 1985). In reviewing the summary
Jjudgment evidence, a court is required to (1) assume that all of the evidence favorable to Doe v,
as the non-movant, is true, (2) indulge every reasonable inference in favor of Doe IV, and (3)
resolve all doubts about the existence of a genuine issue of a material fact in favor of Doe IV.
1d.; see Rayon v. Energy Specialties, Inc., 121 S.W.3d 7, 12 (Tex. App.-—-Fort Worth 2002, no
pet) (“[A]Jll conflicts in the evidence are disregarded and the evidence favorable to the

nonmovant is accepted as true.”). A court should not ascertain the credibility of affiants or
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determine the weight of evidence in the affidavits, depositions, exhibits, and other summary
Jjudgment proof. See Guibenkian v. Penn, 252 S.-W.2d 929, 932 (Tex. 1952).
When, as here, a dt;:fendant is the ‘movant, summary judgment is proper only if the
plaiﬁtiff_ cannot, as a matter of law, sﬁccc_éd ﬁpon ;anj) theery ]_JIEﬂdéd. Turner v. Church of Jesus
" Christ of Latter-Day Saints, 18 S.W.3d- 877, 886 (Tex. App.-—DéI]ﬁs 2000, pet. denied). A
plaintiff can defeat a summary jgdgm'ent motion by conceding _that -the material facts are
undisputed, but convincing the court that the. defendant’s legal position is unsound. Jd; see
Estate of Devitt, 758 8.W.2d 601, 602 (Tex. App —-Amarillo 1988, writ denied). A}ternatlvely,
plaintiff may defeat summary judgment by presenting evidence that creates a fact questlon on
those elements of the plaintiff’s case under attack by the defendant or on at least one element of
cach affirmative defense advanced by the defendant. Turner, 18 S.W.3d at 886. In determining
whether a fact question exists, a trial court “must not weigh the evidence at the summary
Jjudgment stage.” Huckabee v. Time Warner Entm’t Co., 19 8.W.3d 413, 422 (Tex. 2000). A
trial court’s “only duty at the summary judgment stage is to determine if a material question of
| fact exists.” Id. At best, Defendants’ évidence, when coupled with Doe IV’s summary judgment
evidence, gives rise to questions of fact that cannot be resolved by summary judgment. See, e.g.,
Randall v. Dallas Power & Light Co., 752 S.W.2d 4, 5 (Tex. 1988) (drawing conflicting
inferences from different summary judgment evidence raises a fact issue).
V.

Faetual Background

Viewing all of the evidence favorable to Doe IV as true and indulging every reasonable
inference in favor of Doe IV, the summary judgment evidence demonstrates a disturbing pattern
of sexnal abuse by Katinas, and an equaily distirbing pattern of complicity, denial, and cover-up

by the Defendants that employed him and enabled him to have unfettered access to minors. As
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set forth below, Katinas’s notorious career in the clergy is troubling and abhorrent. Even as far
back as his days as a seminaw'sﬁdent, Katinas exhibited sexual proclivities that made him
unsuitable to serve as a priest. For the next 44 years, Katinas’s career was marked by complaints
against him for sexual Iﬁisqénducf involving minor boys, transfers to _differe'nt parishes, and
repeated but unsuccessful th;zrapy. to address his psycﬁoldgicaj problems of acting vul sexually
with minor males. o ' -

Despite psychosexuval diagnoses, warning signs, and red flags, neither the GOAA
Defendants nor Holy Trinity did anything to stop Katinas or warn their own church members -
" much less the unsuspecting pub]icl: -- that there was a sexual predator in their'midst. Instead, they
conspired to ensure that Katinas was given repeated opportunities to exploit boys in Illinois and
Texas. In this manner, both the GOAA Defendants and Holy Trinity provided Katinas with the
means and opportunity that enabled him to sexually abuse Doe I, Doe II, Doe III, Doe IV, and
Doe V in Dallas. And when that abuse was completed, the GOAA Defendants and Holy Trinity
hid behind a wall of secrecy and deception that kept the public and Katinas’s victims ignorant of
Katinas’s sordid history aﬁd Defendants’ active role in allowing that history to repeat itself over
and over again.

A. Even Before Katinas Was Ordained as a Priest, There Were Red Flags About His
Sexual Proclivities.

From the beginning of his pastoral career, red flags were raised about Katinas’s fimess to
serve as a Greek Orthodox priest. While completing his seminary studies at Holy Cross Greek
Orthodox School of Theology, Katinas had a sexual encounter with a male Presbyterian minister
and confessed his sexual proclivities for boys to Bishop Gerasimos. (SLI Report at 3, 5; DZ Aff.
1 11) Although Katinas initially finished his seminary studies in 1959, a professor would not

sign his diploma, causing him to be sent to Istanbul and Geneva. (SLI Report at 5) About this
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same time, Katinas paid for sex with a male prostitute in a Greek bathhouse. (/d. at 3) Despite
these red ﬂags, the Greek Orthodox Church ordained Katinas as a priest in 1963. (J/d. at 5;

6/15/78 Katinas Ietter)

" B.  Katinas’s Years in Mlinois and Texas Were Marked by Sexual Abuse, Treatment
and Transfer from One Parlsh to Another

I.  Katinas sexuallv abused at least four minor boys in Olympia Fields, Illinois,

Afier having sexual encounters with the Presbyterian minister and the male prostitute,
Katinas began focusiné his attention on underage boys whol were part of his parish. (SLI Report
at 3) While assigned by the GOAA as a pastor at Assumption Greek Orthodox Church
(“Assumption Church™} in Olympia Fields, Illinois, Katinas sexually abused DZ, a 16-year old
parishioner and altar boy, for a period of two years beginning in 1971. (DZ Aff. 1 4-6)

During this same time period, Katinas sexually molested SA, a junior high school
student. (SA Aff. 5) After attending the Greek Independence Day Parade, SA and another boy
were changing their clothes in Katinas’s office, when Katinas came in, began rubbing their
genitals, and performed oral sex on each of them. (Jd) Katinas’s abuse, including attempts to
anally penetrate SA, continued for many years anytime SA was alone with Katinas. (14 19 6-7)° |

In the spring of 1974, Katinas also made inappropriate sexual advances toward a 13-year
old parishioner, TS, by requesting that he disrobe (unbutton his shirt as well as loosen his belt
and pants) in the church office so Katinas could “massage™ him, and then forcibly pushed him to
the floor. (TS Aff. 475, 8; S8 Aff. { 8; see Kachavos Depo. at 22-24, 27-29, 79) This attack on

TS was undoubtedly sexual in nature. (TS Aff. 4 8-9) TS immediately reported the sexual

? Although DZ Iater identified SA (and others) as probable victims of Katinas (DZ Aff. { 13), the
GOAA has never contacted SA regarding Katinas or the abuse (SA Aff. 19).
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misconduct to his parents, who confronted Katinas. (TS AfF. 1 10; SS Aff. 49 7-8, 12) Katinas
admitted touTS’s mother that-he was a “sick person” who needed help (SS Aff. 12).4 "
Ultimately, Katinas decided to undergo psychiatric treatment while in Mlinois. Katinas
 contacted Leo Manta, a parish councilmember at Assumptioni Church arid an Archon of the
Greek Orthodox Church, and.séﬁght a-recommendation for a psychiatrist.f (Manta Depo. at 8-,
'13-14, 56-57) Manta referred Katinas to Dr. Forrest Schufflebarger (Manta’s own psychiatrist),
who, after treating Katinas, warned Manta that Katinas “should be kept away from boys.”
(Manta Depo. at 14, 22-24; Loumbas Aff. § 5; DZ Aff. § 11) To prevent any fufure assaults on
the young parishioners of Assumption Church, Man.ta advised the GOAA, as well as the Greek
Orthodox Diocese in Chicago, of Dr. Schufflebarger’s professional opinion. (Loumbas Aff. | 6)°
But instead of removing Katinas from the priesthood (and protecting young Greek Orthodox
parishioners), the GOAA elected instead to transfer Katinas from Iilinois to Dallas to “avoid
scandal to the church” and kept: “the real reason [for the transfer] secret.” (Loumbas Aff. § 7)

2. The GOAA reassigns Katinas to Holy Trinity in Dallas to “cover up” his prior

assaults of minor boys in Illinois.

TS’s parents were not the only Assumption Church parishioners who became aware of

Katinas’s attempt to sexually assault TS. George Kachavos, Assumption Church Parish Council

4 Understandably, out of a very deep concern for the welfare of their son and the welfare of other
young parishioners in contact with Katinas, TS’s parents informed Katinas that they could no longer
remain as parishioners at Assumption Church where Katinas remained as pastor and had unfettered access

to minors. {Id.)

° An “Archon” is a “position of honor” within the Greek Orthodox Church and consists of a
“group of select individuals . . . whose calling . . . is to be a defender of the [Ecumenical] Patriarchate [of
Constantinople] and some of its legal issues with the [cJountry of Turkey . . . and to promote the
Patriarchate as much as they can.” (Kontogiorgis Depo. at 225-26)

® Manta later discussed the Katinas problem with Andy Athens, a member of the GOAA
Archdiocese Council, who responded that he “wish[ed] more of our Greek Orthodox priests would keep

their peckers in their pants.” (Manta Depo. at 20-21)
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President, also became aware of the assault. (Kachavos- Depo. at 22—24)7 As a result, he
contacted Gust Dickett,-the attorney for Aésﬁmption Church and its Parish Council Treésurer,
and reported the incident to him. (Kachavos Depo. at 27-29, 79) Kacha‘:'os instructed Dickeit
“to take Whatéverl actién [jwas] n-ec;ass_ajy to see that [Katinas] [was] rcgssirgnéd.” (Id. at 30-32)
Dicleett followed Krachavas’s' instruction, and after the sexual miscon:duct_wa_s made known to
the GOAA, it reassigned Katinas in September 1978 to Holy Trinity in Dallas, Texas, in order to
. “cover-up” his sexuél misconduct and to avoid the publicity and scandal that would necessarily
follow if TS’s family reported the incident to the state attorney’s office. (/d. at 30-31, 39, 42, 44,
49, 77, 79-80) -

C. Katinas Sexually Abuses Plaintiffs in Dallas,

Predictably, Katinas used the authority granted to him by the GOAA as a pastor at Holy
Trinity to sexually abuse Plaintiffs, most of whom served as altar boys at the church. (Doe I
Depo. at 34-35; Doe II Mother Depo. at 101-03; Doe IV Father Depo. at 26; Doe V Depo. at 31)
The pattern of abuse of each boy was disturbingly similar. Katinas’s pattern of seduction
mmvolved grooming each P]ai;:ttiff by approaching him individually and either telling him that he
was special and that he loved him or discussing sexual issues with him during confession. (Doel
Depo. 37-44, 173-74; Doe IV Depo. at 83; Doe V Depo. at 41, 137-38) Due to the reverence
associated with Katinas’s position in the parish -- and not having the same knowledge as
Defendants about Katinas’s prior deviant behavior in IIﬁnois -~ Plaintiffs discussed their most
private personal and sexual issues with Katinas, believing he was properly counseling them

about adolescent issues, including sexuality. (DoeI Depo. at 42-43, 173: Doe 11 Depo. at 117;

7 This was not the first ime Kachavos had become aware of Katinas’s predatory conduct,
Kachavos had personally observed Katinas engaging in sexually inappropriate behavior with young boys
and/or men on three other occasions. (/4. at 32-37) Additionally, rumors of Katinas’s sexual misconduct
with boys circulated among other parish council members, including John Faklis. (Faklis AfT. 17 2-4)
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Doe IV Depo. at 83, 173-74; Doe 1V Father Depo. at 22; Doe V Depo. at 137-39) Shortly afier
engaging in explicit sexual dis;:ussions with them, Katinas would approach each boy in the

sacristy after mass or other seciuded locations on church grounds and initially fondle or

masturbate their genitals. -

. In 1983, Katinas approached Doe 1, then 13 y_v-.‘:ars old, in the church rectory-and
proceeded to assault him. (Doe I Depo. at 40-41, 45) Following this incident, Katinas .conﬁﬁued
to assauit Doe 1 over 100 times during a three year period under the guise of a loving relationship
designed to train Doe I in the ways of Greek manhood. (Id. at 35-41, 43-44, 173-74) After
Katinas had finished with Dc;e I, he warned him to keep quiet about what he had done, likening it
to “confession.” (/d. at 176-77; Rosenstock 1 Aff. {3 & Ex. B at 7)

Sometime in 1982, Katinas molested Doe II, the fourteen-year old half-brother of Doe 1,
in the church daycare room. (Doe II Depo. at 39, 41-45) Katinas demanded that the mentally
disab]ed. teenager take off his pants and then sexually assanlted him. (/4 at 43-44; Doe II
Mother Depo. at 51, 54, 56) On at least two other occasions, Katinas brazenly walked up to qu
Il and groped his genitals. (Doe II Depo. at 46-49, IIS-i 6, 145-47)

In 1987, after repeatedly slapping Doe IV on his buttocks, Katinas approached Doe IV,
then eleven years old, in the sacristy and rubbed his erected penis on Doe IV’s buttocks in a
bumping and grinding fashion. (Doe IV Depo. at 78-81) Finally, following a Sunday mass,
Katinas sexually assaulted Doe V, then twelve years old, in the narthex of the church. (Doe V
Depo. at 29-31, 98) Katinas continued to sexually abuse Doe V on repeated occasions over the
next 20 years until 2004, usually within the sacred confines of the church’s sacristy and

elsewhere on church property. (/d at 35-39, 44-48, 50-53, 101-02, 151-52)
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Katinas’s abuse of young boys, however, was not limited to the altar, the sacristy, or the
daycare room. In hdch’tion to abusing Doe 1, Doe I]r, Doe 1V, and Doe V, Katinas sexually
assaulted 15-year oid Doe III on Halloween night__ @n a home paid for by Holy Trinity. (Doe III
Depo. at 5; Kontogiorgis Depo. at 115; N Cérayénnc;poulds_ Depoi at 93-97) Upon retqming
from a night of trick—or—tréating with Kaﬁna;’s 'sons, whom Doe III .kﬁew and trusted as his
former next door neighbors in Illinois, Igatinés requested that his children.gleavé him alone with
Doe 1M so that he could have a private conversation with him. (Doe III Depo. at 60-64) Instead
of talking, however, Katinas proceeded to push Doe III back on the bed and perform oral sex on
him. (/) - -
D. Defendants, Once Again, Conceal Katinas’s Sexual Misconduct.

After Doe IV’s parents notified Holy Trinity and the GOAA of the incident between
Katinas and their son in 1987 (Triantafilou Depo. at 105-07: Doe IV Father Depo. at 38-43, 98-
100), Defendants hatched a plot for how they were going to manage the potential scandal. The
GOAA sent Father Triantafilou, Vicar General of the GOAA and an old friend of Katinas from
the sc;minary, to Dallas under the guise of cdnducting an investigation.® (Triantafilou Depo. at 7-
9, 56-61, 137) Triantafilou initially met with Doe IV’s parents, and in an effort to “protect the
church,” he instructed them *not to call the police” or “talk to anybody” about the incident. (Doe
IV Father Depo. at 48-49; Triantafilou Depo. at 77) Afier conducting a single interview with
Doe IV’s parents and Katinas about the matter (and without interviewing anyone else),
Triantafilou convinced Doe IV’s parents and their son that Doe IV had “misunderstood” and

“imagined” Katinas’s actions; that “nothing had occurred”; that “Father Katinas wouldn’t lie”;

® The Vicar General works in concert with the Chancellor of the Greek Orthodox Archdiocese of
America. (Triantafifou Depo. at 7-8) His job duties include investigating claims of clergy sexual
misconduct. (/. at 22) Triantafilou kept other GOAA officials, including Bishop Isaiah, the Chancellor
of the Archdiocese (and now the current head of the Metropolis of Denver), abreast of the Doe IV

investigation. (/d. at 7-8, 181)
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that “he was a good man™; that “he has been in several different parishes and he has always been
well reébected and well-receivéd”; that ;;he has no blemish . .. in his past at all”; and that
“I'tJhere is no record of him ever having any type of an incident like this.” (Doe IV Father Depo.
a’_c,60-62, 108; Doe IV Depo. at 177_; Tﬁaﬁtﬁﬁlou Depo.;lt 77) Doe IV’s parents “listened to'the
church,” accepted its purported ﬁx-ldings, and relayed Triantafilou’s representations to their son.
(Doe IV Father Depo. at 63-64) . o

Despite their affirmative representations that “nothing had occurred,” Defendants sent
Katinas to counseling for so-called “boundary” issues. (Triantafilon Depo. at 77) But
Deft-andants did nothing to confirm that Katinas completed the cbunseling or J[;J ascertain the
results. (/d. at 110).°

E. Katinas Admits to Sexually Abusing Minor Boys.

Like many other child abuse victims, DZ was unable to talk to anyone about the sexual
abuse he suffered at the hands of Katinas in Illinois until more than 25 years later because of the
shame he felt. (DZ Aff. § 9) After entering psychotherapy to address issues surrounding his
molestation, DZ confronted Katinas out of concern that Katinas was coﬁtinuing to molest young
boys. (Zd. 110) Although Katinas claimed he was no longer abusing children, he admitted that
it took him several years after moving to Dallas to “clean up” his act, thus confirming DZ’s fears
that Katinas inde;ad had molested other children at Holy Trinity. (72 Y 11)

In October 2005, DZ contacted the GOAA and lodged an official complaint against
Katinas. (Jd. § 12) As part of the investigative process, DZ spoke to Bishop Savas Zembillas
(the Chancellor of the GOAA) and Father Michael Kontogiorgis (the Assistant Chancei]or)

regarding the sexual abuse Katinas inflicted. (74 7 12-13) In April 2006, six months after DZ

° This was not the first time Katinas had been sent to counseling. In the early 1980s, Katinas
“spoke to someone in a counseling capacity” afier a parent complained about his inappropriate behavior
with their son. (SLI Report at 4; see Kontogiorgis Depo. at 150-53)
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submitted his complaint, Kontogiorgis finally. confronted Katinas concerning DZ’s allegations of
sexual misconduct. ) (Kontoéiorgis Depo. at 62, 64, 66-67; Spiritual -Court at 1) Katinas
immediately and unabashedly admitted that he had abused DZ and four other minor parishioners
while he was a’pastor m Olyiﬁpia Fields. -(Kont'ogiorg_is Depo. at. 65-67; Spiritual Court at 1)
Shockingly, Katinas e;\;pressgad ne remorse for hfs actions, but instead defended him.seif on the
grounds that he had acted in a spirit of love and pastofa] concern for the boys. (Kontogiorgis

Depo. at 156; Spiritual Court at.1)

F. Katinas Is Sent for Further Psychiatric Evaluation and Treatment and Admits to
Abusing “Approximately Five Teenage Boys.” -

Once again recognizing that Katinas was “a threat and liability for [Defendants] to have
- . . as one of [their] Priests,” Kontogiorgis requested that Katinas undergo an extensive week-
long psychological evaluation at St. Luke Institute (“SLI”), a private residential treatment facility
in Maryland known for its treatment of priests with psycho-sexual problems such as the abuse of
minors. (Kontogiorgis Depo. at 54-55, 67-68) Katinas thus entered SLI, where he remained
under the care of Dr. Andrew Martin, a clinical psychologist who prepared an assessment report .
that he shared with Konfogiorgis. (SLI Report at 1-10; Kontogiorgis Depo. at 138, 144-147)
Among other observations, Martin noted that Katinas was a paraphiliac who admitted he had “a
sexual preference for teenage boys who were athletic and intelligent,” used “oral sex and mutual
masturbation” with young boys as “an escape” and “believ{ed] it was a pleasurable experience”
for them, and had “difficulty incorporating his sexuality into a consistent understanding of
himself.”'® (SLI Report at 3, 9) Katinas further admitted that he had “sexual contact with

approximately 5 teenage boys” while serving as a priest. (/4 at 3)  Based on Katinas's

A paraphiliac is a person who engages in paraphilia -- i.e., a pattern of recurring sexunally
arousing mental imaging or behavior that involves unusual and especially socially unacceptable practices
as pedophilia. MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S MEDICAL DICTIONARY (2008).
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admissions and his own findings, Martin recommended that Katinas enter an intensive residential
treatment program and “have no individual or unsupervised contact with minors™ in order “to

reduce [Katinas’s] potential risk of acﬁng . . . on his sexual attractions to minors.” (/4 at 9-10;

Koritogiorgis Depo. at 147) -

. : P e 4 Tl P
G. Katinas Is Finally Suspended from-the Priesthood.

i Following his brief stint at SLI, Katinas returned to Holy Trinity. (Kontogiprgis‘ Depo. at
159-60) Although Kontogiorgis informed Father Wesley Benson Hohnholt, the assistant pastor
_at Holy Trinity, of the allegations of sexual misconduct lodged against Katinas (Hohnholt Depo.
at 32-33), Kontogiorgis told Hohnholt not to disclose “thié to anyone” {(id. at 42, 49). Hohnholt,

however, was so concerned about the situation that he sent an e-mail to Kontogiorgis in June

2006:

What has changed is [Katinas’s] talk about retirement. He now
makes plans for what will happen here at the Church next year, . . .
how he js going to try to keep things in his conirol even when a
new [priest] is assigned . . ..

It is hard to see his face every.day, to hear his perverted world
view, his reluctance to hold people with sexual deviations
accountable becanse he obviously couldn’t do it himself, ... 1
don’t want him to look at my sons, much less talk to them. When
he wants to give them food, 1 want to throw up. I won’t let him.
When he talks about the Academy and the need for an Orthodox
School, I can only think how he just wants kids around. I believe
less and less in the idea of a pedophile being rehabilitated. When
people go on and on, praising him, venerating his priesthood and
commenting on what a good family man and role mode! he is, I
want to lose it.

. - . I notice you only speak with me in vague terms...and I’m sure
there’s plenty of politics involved. '

(Hohnholt Depo. at 49-50, 53 & Depo. Ex. 3)

In July 2006, Katinas was ultimately suspended, but only after he repeatedly refused to

enroll in a residential treatment program and attempted to resign for “health” reasons. (Spiritual
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Court at 1-2; Kontogiorgis Depo. at 147, 161, 163, 167; Kontogiorgis Depo. Ex. 11 at GOAA 59
& Ex.- 14) Although Katinas had been s’uspendecl for a “very serious moral traﬁsgression,”
neither the GOAA nor Hb]y Tﬁnity informed any of their trusting 'paris‘hioners, including the
‘parents of Doe I, Doe 11, Doe W, and Doe V, of Katinas’s crimes, sought out any of Katinas’s
. victims, or reported Katiﬁas’é unlawful conduct to any civil authorities. - (K_-cmtogiprgis Depo. at
- 74-75, 81, 144, 203;04, 207, 218, 263) In fact, the GOAA instructggl the Holy Trinity parish
council not to make any statement to their parishioners regarding Katinas’s suspension.
(Michael Depo. at 95-97) Moreover, Defendants permitted Katinas to continu¢ to attend Holy
Trinity, sit in the altar, and fraternize with uns;uspecting minors. (Kontogiorgis Depo. at 203-05)
In 2007, Katinas fled Texas to Greece suddenly and without explanation. (/d at 12-13)

Finally, on June 15, 2007, the Spiritual Court of the First Instance, a group comprised of
GOAA clergy including Bishop Savas, recommended that Katinas be laicized for “abus[ing] the
power and prescience of his priestly office . . . [by] seduc[ing} and subsequently engag[ing] in
sexual relations with a young man of his spiritual flock . . ., actions for which he has expressed
no remorse.” (Kontogiorgis Depo. at 139 & Ex. 12; Spiritual Court at 2-3‘).11 Despite its belated
proclamations, the GOAA (who allegedly condemns Katinas’s actions) continues to make
- monthly pension payments to Katinas, even though it is aware that he abused numerous boys

during his 46 years of employment as a*priest. (Kontogiorgis Depo. at 44, 207)"

" To laicize a priest is to remove his right to exercise the functions of the priestly office and to
return him to the status of a layman. WEBSTER’S INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 1265 (3d ed. 1969).

*? As with Katinas, Defendants have engaged in a similar pattern and practice of covering up and
concealing the sexual abuse of minors by other clerics by, among other actions, sending them to treatment
centers, recycling them into the ministry, remaining silent about their crimes, or misleading their victims.
(See, e.g., Metropoulos Aff. 1 3-13; Kontogiorgis Depo. at 44, 48, 52-53) This atmosphere has thus
enabled these clerics to repeat their sexually abusive behavior.
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H. Doe IV Repressed and Suppressed the Sexual Abuse Perpetrated by Katinas and
Was Unaware that He Had Been Abused or Harmed by that Abuse until Recently.

Because Doe IV was a child when Katinas perrpetrated the sexual acts against him, he
ex_perienged, perceived, and dealt with the events as a child. (Rosenstoék IV Afi. §10) And
because he did not possess the niaturity and p__sychologicai capabilijty of proccss-ingrit as an adult,
Doe IV could not ap_l_)ly aciult perception, rational thinking, p.robiem. s-olv'ing, decision making, or
judgment, nor could he identify Katinas’s actions under the psychological rubric of “sexual
abuse” (/d) In short, Doe IV was simply not capable of developiﬂg‘an adult, rational, and
competent appreciation for the harm he had experienced as a result of Katinas’s actions, nor was
he capable of recognizing that those actions constituted sexual abuse. {Id)

As concluded by Dr. Rosenstock, a licensed forensic psychiatrist who has evaluated and
treated numerous clergy abuse victims, Doe IV repressed and suppressed the memories of the
sexual abuse he suffered at the hands of Katinas, he was unaware of the harm caused by that
abuse until shortly before filing before filing this lawsuit, and the nature of Doe IV’s injuries was
inherently undiscoverable due to his repression and suppression. (Rosenstock IV Aff, 2, 7-
9 When Doe IV recently became aware through conversations with his mother that Katinas

had abused other boys, his repressed and suppressed memories of the sexual abuse became

conscious. (/4. 8) Doe IV suddenly developed an integrated picture of what happened to him,

" Repression and suppression are two recognized defense mechanisms to trauma, such as being
sexually abused s a child. Repression enables an individual to unconsciously avoid dealing with noxious
and painful stimuli that at the moment or moments of impact exceed the individual’s coping skills.
Similarly, suppression is a conscious defense mechanism that helps maintain mental stability by allowing
an individual to compartmentalize noxions memories and associated painful affect until such time as they
can be worked through without being overwhelming. Sometimes it can be decades, as in this case, before
the repressed or suppressed material is available to the victim for processing and recognition and truly
subject to cognitive analysis by the victim. Both concepts are widely accepted in psychiatry and
psychology, are reliable, and have been subjected to peer review. (Jd. §4 4-6)
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and he discovered that despite what had been told to him as a child, he had been victimized and
damaged by Katinas (and fhe Defendants who deceived him ;nto believing othierwise). (/d.)

| VL

Doe IV’s Claims Are Not Barred by the Aﬁplicable Statutes of Limitations

In a misguided attempt to avoid facing a_- Jury for exposing Doe IV to the sexual
predations of Katinas, Defendants argue that aﬂl of Doe IV’s claims against them are barred by_
the statute of limitationg: Regardless of whether those claims are governed by the two-year
statute of limitations under TEX. CIv. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 16.003(a), the four-year statute of
limijtations under TEX: C1v. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 16.004, or the five-year statute of limitations
under TEX. CIv. PRAC. & REM CODE § 16.0045, the claims are not barred by limitations as a
matter of law or fact.

As an initial matter, Defendants’ motions must be denied because they are premised on
one so-called “fact” that is far from undisputed -- i.¢., that Doe TV was supposedly aware of the
sexual abuse by Katinas “at the time” it occurred. As set forth below, the summary judgment
evidence raises a fact issue to the contrary, and in ﬁny event, Doe I'V’s knowledge while he was a
minor and under a legal disability is irrelevant to the limitations analysis here. Moreover, the
GOAA Defendants and Holy Trinity ignore their own tbrtious conduct and the specific claims
that Doe IV asserted against them, and instead myopically focus their argument on Katinas’s
sexual abuse, when that abuse occurred, and when Doe IV was supposedly aware of that abuse.
For any or all of these reasons, Defendants’ motions must be denied -- even apart from the

application of the discovery rule -- fraudulent concealment, or any other tolling doctrine or

defense pleaded by Doe IV in response to Defendants’ limitations argument.
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A, Doe IV Was Not Aware of the Sexual Abuse at the Time It Occurred.

At the outset, Defendants’ motions ‘must be denied because Defendants have not
concluswely established that Doe IV was aware of Katinas’s sexual abuse when it occurred,
Defendants limitations argument as we]] as thelr effort to negate Doe IV’s defenses to
limitations, including the dlsco‘.{ery mle; fraugiql_cnt concealment, and sstoppel, hinge entirely on
their repeated assertion that Doe IV ’s téstimony conclusively estab]ishes.tlﬁat he was “aware” of
the sexual abuse when it occurred. (GOAA Motion at 11; HT Motion at 13-14). As discussed
below, however, the summary judgment evidence - viewed in the light most favorable to
Doe IV -- ;Iemonstrates to the contrary or, at the very least, raises a fact issue.

To begin with, as Holy Trinity itself recognizes, children often are “[ulnaware of the
nature of the [sexual] abuse” because “[ithey do not understand what is happening to them.” (HT
Draft Policies for Child Safety at 20) Defendants thus put far too much stock in the fact that
Doe 1V, during his February 15, 2008 deposition in this case, was able to testify about the sexual
assauits he endured. (See GOAA Motion at 3, 11; FIT Motion at 2, 13, 14) The fact that Doe IV
could testify about the abuse in 2008 -- more than 20 years after the abuse and shortly after his
repressed and suppressed memories returned to him -- does not conclusively demonstrate that he
“has always been aware™ that he was being sexually abused by Katinas or that he was “aware of
the abuse since it . . . occurred.” (GOAA Motion at 11; HT Motion at 14) Cf Dixon v. E.D.
Bullard Co., 138 S.W.3d 373, 379 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 2004, pet. granted, judgm’t
vacated w.rm. by agr.) (“We do not find [plaintiff’s] deposition testimony in 2001, in which he
said he had pneumonia in 1996 due to silicosis, to be persuasive evidence as to what [plaintiff]
knew or should have knowq regarding his condition and its cause in 1996.”). Defendants further
mischaracterize the evidence when they assert that Doe IV “told numerous persons of the abuse

prior to and after reaching the age of majority.” (GOAA Motion at 3, 11; HT Motion at 14)
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(emphasis added) The testimony on which .Defendants rely, however, is completely
uninformative about what Doe 1V ‘sﬁ-p-posedly told those persons -- i.e., there is no indication as
to whether Doe [V told them hc? had been “abused” (as Defendants suggest) or whether he
merely told them that he ‘;misﬁnd;arstoocf” what Katinas did to him (as Triantafilou had -
fraudulently convinced him g;nd-h.is‘parents). (Do IV Féﬂlér Depo. at 188)

- Viewed in the light most favorable to Doe IV, the suhimary judgment evidence raises a
fact issue regarding whether Doe IV. was aware of the sexual abuse by Katinas at the time it
occurred (or at any time thereafter). That fact issue is sufficient to defeat Defendants’ motions

for summary judgment.

B. Any Alleged Awareness of Katinas’s Sexual Acts at the Time They Occurred Is
Legally Irrelevant to the Limitations Analysis Here Because Doe IV Was a Minor
and Therefore Under a Legal Disability at the Time.

Even if Doe IV were “aware” of the sexual abuse by Katinas at the time it occurred, such
alleged awareness is legally irrelevant to the limitations analysis here. Defendants’ contrary
contention overlooks the undisputed fact that Doe IV was a minor at the time of the abuse and
therefore was under a Iegél disability until he turned 18 on MEJ'CI-'I 23, 1994. (Doe IV Depo. at
143)  As a result, none of the so-called facts upon which Defendants rely have a bearing on the

limitations issue here because they all occurred before the limitations pericd began to run (at the
earliest) in March 1994,

Although a claimant must generally bring his claims not later than two, four, or five years
“after the day the cause of action accrues” pursuant to sections 16.003, 16.004, and 16.0045 of
the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code, the Texas Legislature has recognized that a person
“younger than 18 years of age” is “under a legal disability.” TEX. CIV. PRAC. & REM. CODE
§ 16.001(a)(1). For such persons, “the time of disability is not included in the limitations

period,” and therefore, the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the claimant turns 18
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years of age. Id. § 16.001(b) (emphasis ad&ed); see S.V. v. R.V., 933 S W.2d 1, 8 (Tex. 1996)
(“In applying the statute -of limitations, . . the years of [plaintiff’s] minority are not included. . . .
[Plaintiff] is [thus] ir{ the same position as if her claims all accrued on her 18th birthday and
limitations began to run ;m that date.’r). Asa result, for purposes of establishing a limitations:
defense, it is-hrélevant_whether .DOE‘:W was aware ol or knew of the sexual abuse during a tiz-ne‘
“not included in the limitations pen'od” while he was a minor and under a “legal disability.”
Rather, the relevant inquiry is whether Doe IV was aware of the sexual abuse when he turned 18
on March 23, 1994 and the limitations period began to run (at the earliest). See Fager v. Handt,
610 N.E.2d 246, 250 (Ind. 1993) (“This grace period [until age -1 8] allows a person a reasonable
opportunity upon reaching adult age to assess and assert his or her legal rights. Such
opportunity, however, is of no avail to the new adult who lacks knowledge of early childhood
trauma and injury.”).

As to this relevant inquiry, Defendants’ summary judgment evidence is notably lacking.
In fact, as set forth above, Defendants rely exclusively on Doe IV’s deposition testimony from
2008. TeIlingiy, however, Defendants oﬁ'ered no summary judgment evidence demonsh‘aﬁng -
much less conclusively establishing - that Doe IV was aware of the sexual abuse by Katinas at
any time between March 23, 1994 when he turned 18 and 2008 when he gave his deposition
testimony. See Part VI.A, above. In the absence of such proof, Defendants have not met their
summary judgment burden to show that all of Doe IV’s claims are barred by limitations as a
matter of law. The motions therefore must be denied for this reason as well.

C. Defendants Ignore Their Own Tortious Conduct and Instead Focus Entirely on
Katinas’s Sexual Abuse.

Finally, in addition to the reasons discussed above, Defendants’ motions also must be

denied because they improperly focus only on Katinas’s sexual abuse of Doe IV, when that
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abuse occurred, and when Doe 1V was supposedly aware of that abuse and his resulting injury.
In ponduc'tir;g this superﬁcfa] analysis, however, Defendants conveniently ignore their own
tortious acts and omissions and the Acauses of action asserted against them by Doe IV in this
" lawsuit. Wifh resp;ect to those causes of acti_on, Defendants have not met their summary
judgi-mcnt burden to dem'onshréfe that Doe TV’s claims accrued, and the statute_. of limitations
_commenced on those claims, more than two, four?ror five years before Doe 1V filed suit.

Under Texas law, the question of when a claim “accrues” arises out of “the application of
the statute of limitations to the facts ascertained as they relate io the cause of action pleaded.”
Parker v. Yen, 823 S.W.2d 359, 363-64 (Tex. App.--Dallas 1991, no writ) (emphasis added); see
Port Arthur Rice Milling Co. v. Beaumont Rice Mills, 143 S.W. 926, 928 (Tex. 1912).
Limitations do not begin to run until suit can be commenced “upon the claim asserted.” Parker,
823 S.W.2d at 364. Therefore, a cause of action does not accrue until “the point at which the tort
complained of is completed — i.e., when facts supporting each element of the cause of action
come into existence.” Stroud v. VBFSB Holding Corp., 917 S.W.2d 75, 79-80 (Tex. App.--San
Antonio 1996, writ denied); see also Deloitte & Touche v. Weller, 976 S.W.2d 212, 215 (Tex.
App.—-Amarillo 1998, pet. denied) (“[A] cause of action only accrues when facts come into
existence supporting each element of the tort.”),

Applying these principles here, Defendants were required to demonstrate that the facts
giving rise to each element of Doe IV’s claims against the GOAA Defendants and Holy Trinity
for negligence, fraud, breach of confidential relationship, and the like had occurred -- and those
claims had accrued -- at least two, four, or five years before Dde IV filed suit. They failed to do
so. Indeed, Defendants have made no showing that the elements of negligence, fraud, and the

like were in existence more than two, four, or five years before Doe IV filed suit. Instead,
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without any evidentiary support and without relating any of the so-called facts to the particular
) céuses of action asserted by Doe 1V, Deféﬁdants merely argue that -all of -D.;)B IV’s causes of
action accrued “when he reached the age of 18” (HT Motion at 14) or “whejn the alleged acts of
sexual abuse occurred” and that Doe IV was therefore “required to file and serve his action ]:;rior,
to his twenty-third Eirﬂiday or March 23, 1999” (GOAA Motion at 9).: Accnr_dingly, Defendants®
motions are deficient as a matter Qf law and must be denied for this reason as well. See
-DeWoody v. Rippley, 951 S.W.2d 935, 947 (Tex. App.~Fort Worth 1997, pet. dism’d by agr.)
("global assertion” that the plaintiffs® claims against the four defendants for tortious conduct
were time barred is “insufficient to estab-lish when each of the sixteen individual causes of action
asserted against [defendants] accrued™) (emphasis added).
VIIL,

Doe IV’s Pleaded Defenses to the Statute of Limitations
Preclude Summary Judgment Under the Circumstances Here

Even if limitations began to run on all of Doe IV’s claims in March 1994 when he turned
18, and even if those claims would be barred under the applicable two, four, or five year statute
of limitations, Defendants’ motions must still be denied for either one of two reasons. First,
Defendants have failed to conclusively negate all of Doe IV’s pleaded defenses to the statute of
limitations. Second, the summary judgment evidence raises a fact issue regarding each disputed
element of those defenses.

As an initial matter, contrary to Defendants’ assertion, the discovery rule does apply here
because the wrongful acts and Doe IV's resulting injuries were both inherently undiscoverable
and objectively verifiable. Applying the discovery rule, the summary judgment evidence
demonstrates that Doe IV did not, in fact, discover Defendants’ wrongful acts and his resulting

injuries until shortly before filing this lawsnit. Defendants’ limitations defense likewise fails
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because Doe IV repressed and suppressed all memory of the sexual abuse and the injury he
suffered at the hands of Katin;ls. Finally, the summary judgment evidence demonstrates that
Defendants fraudulently concealed Doe IV’'s claims and are estopped from asserting their

limitations defense under the circumstances Fere. For any or all of these reasons, Defendants’

motions should-be denied.

A, Defendants Have Not Met Their Summary Judgment Burden To Negate the
Application of the Discovery Rule.

Under well-seitled Texas law, a defendant moving fo-r” summary judgment on the
affirmative defense of limitations has the burden to “conclusively . . . negate the discovery rule,
if it applies and has been pleaded or otherwise raised, by proving as a matter of law that there is
no genuine issue of material fact about when the plaintiff discovered, or in the exercise of
reasonable diligence should have discovered the nature of i‘;s injury.” KPMG Peat Marwick v.
Harrison County Hous. Fin. Corp., 988 S.W.2d 746, 748 (Tex. 1599). Although Doe IV
specifically pleaded the discovery rule here (see Pls.” Sixth Am. Pet. 9 13.01), Defendants have
failed to meet their summary judgment burden to negate it as a matter of law and undisputed fact,

i. The discovery rule applies here.

In discussing the concept of “inherent undiscoverability,” Defendants confuse the
distinction between (1) whether the discovery rule applies in the first instance to Doe TV’ claims
in this case, and (2) whether, when applying the discovery rule, Doe IV discovered or should
have discovered his claims at least two years before filing suit. The concept of inherent
undiscoverability, along with the related concept of objective verifiability, is used to determine
whether the discovery rule applies in the first instance to a particular cause of action, S.V. v.
RV.933 8.W.2d 1, 6-7 (Tex. 1996). It is well-established in Texas that the discovery rule does

apply to Doe IV’s claims for breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, and conspiracy. See Computer
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Assocs. Int’l, Inc. v. Altai, Inc., 918 S.W.2d 453, 455-56 (Tex. 1996) (explaining reasons for
applying discovery “ruIe in fraud cases and noting that; in a fiduciary context, the nature of the
injury is presumed to be inherently undiscoverable);r Prostok v. Browning, 112 S,W.3d 876, 898
(Tex. App.—-Da]las 2003) {discovery rule “applies to‘- claims of breach of fiduciary duty and
conspiracy™), rev'd on other grounds, 165-3.\?_;1.3d 336 (Tex. 2005); In ré Estate of Herring, 970
. S.w.d 583, 586 (Tex. App.—Corpus Christi 1998, no pet.) (discovery rule app]iés to conspiracy
to commit fraud). As to those claims, the Court need not examine the concepts of inherent
undiscoverability or objective verifiability. See, e.8. Computer Assocs. Int’'l, 918 S.W.2d at 455-
56; Prostok, 1‘12— S.W.3d at 898; Herring, 970 S.W.2d at 586.

Once it is determined that the discovery rule does apply to a particular cause of action,
the question becomes whether the discovery rule defers the accrual of limitations and thereby
saves the claim from being time-barred. S.V., 933 S.W.2d at 6. Specifically, at the summary
judgment stage, a defendant has the burden to negate the discovery rule by conclusively
establishing that the plaintiff discovered or should have discovered the “nature of the injury” -
i.e., “the injury and that it was likely caused by ‘the wrongful acts of another” -- more than two,
four, or five years before he filed suit. Childs v. Haussecker, 974 S.W.2d 31, 40 (Tex. 1998).

Although Doe IV is not required to establish the elements of inherent undiscoverability
and objective verifiability for the discovery rule to apply in this case, Doe IV would be able to do

so in any event, as set forth below.

a. The nature of Doe IV's injury was inherently undiscoverable.

As the Texas Supreme Court has expressly recognized, “some [childhood] traumas are by
nature impossible to recall for a time.” S.77, 933 S.W.2d at 8. Thus, even though the plaintiffin
S.V. (unlike here) was not deceived into thinking she was not being abused, the Court assumed

that a plaintiff could “satisfy the inherent undiscoverability element for application of the

PLAINTIFF JOHN DOE IV*S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS! MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT — Page 26



discoveryrrule” in a sex abuse case. Jd.; see also Doe v.-Grossman, No. 3:99-CV-1336-P, 2000
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12233, at *11 (N.D. Tex. Aug. 24, 2000) (“[C]hildhood sexual abuse is the
type of injury that may be inherently undiscoverable.”). |

The case for inherent undi;sc;pvéra-l;i]ity is even 7str0ng',er here, because Defendants did
deceive Doe IV into beii_eﬁng the_;t he was not abused and that he had simply “misunderstood™
and “imagined” Katinas’s actions. (Doe IV Father Dep_o. at 170—8; Doe IV Depo. at 177)
Accordingly, Doe IV can readily satisfy. the inherent undiscoverability element, and more
importantly for present purposes, Defendants have failed to conclusively establish that he
cannot.** A

Holy Trinity is thus wrong when it asserts that Doe IV “admitted that he was aware of the
abuse at the time it occurred,” and its reliance on Doe v. Linam, 225 F. Supp. 2d 731 (S.D. Tex.
2002), and Doe v. Grossman, 2000 WL 1400626 (N.D. Tex. Aug. 25, 2000), is misplaced. (HT
Motion at 17; see also GOAA Motion at 11} In Linam, the plaintiff “candidly admitfted] that he
was aware of the alleged sexual abuse incident involving [the defendant] and his related injuries
prior to the expiration of the Iin;itatic-ms period” and “admittedly knew that he had been abused.”
Linam, 225 F. Supp. 2d at 735. Similarly, before the expiration of the natural statute of
limitations in Grossman at the plaintiff’s twenty-third birthday, the plaintiff knew or “began to
suspect her father abused her.” Grossman, 2000 WL 1400626, at *5. In stark contrast here, Doe

IV was not aware that he had been sexmally abused before the expiration of the statute of

" Moreover, under well-settled Texas law, a fiduciary’s misconduct is inherently undiscoverable.
Willis v. Maverick, 760 S.W.2d 642, 645 (Tex. 1988); Haas v. George, 71 8.W.3d 904, 912 (Tex. App.—
Texarkana 2002, no pet.). A person to whom a fiduciary duty is owed is either unable to inquire into the
fiduciary’s actions or unaware of the need to do so. S.¥., 933 S.W.2d at 8; see Willis, 760 S.W.2d at 645
(“Facts which might ordinarily require investigation likely may not excite suspicion where a fiduciary
relationship is involved.”). Because Defendants are not entitled to summary judgment on the existence of
a fiduciary or confidential relationship for the reasons discussed below in Part VII.C, the “inherent
undiscoverability” prong of the discovery rule is satisfied for this reason as well.
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limitations. Rather, Defendants deceived Doe 1V into believing that he was not abused and that
he had simply “misunderstood” andﬂ“imagined’-’"Katinas’s actions. (Doe IV Father Depo. at 108;

Doe IV Depo. at 177).

b The 'WI‘AO?-I,E'ﬁl[ acts arid Doe’s inftiry are ébiecﬁvelv verifiable.

Def‘endants are similarly mistaken 'when_thcy' conteric_i-that_ D_oe IV cannot establish the
objective verifiability prong qf the test for whether the diécovéry rule applies. (GOAA Motion at
12; HT Moﬁon at 18) As discusse_c! below, Defendants are mistaken, and their reliance on S.V. to
contend otherwise is misplaced.

In S.¥,, the Texas éupréme Court ultimately concluded that the discovery rule did not
apply to the facts of that case because there was “no physical or other evidence . . . to satisfy the
element of objective verifiability.” S.¥., 933 S.W.2d at 15. Thus, the facts in S.V. presented a
classic swearing match between the alleged abuser (the father) and the alleged victim of sexual
abuse (the daughter). Because the Court rejected the daughter’s use of expert psychiatric
testimony concerning repressed memories to satisfy the objective verifiability prong, “the
daughter’s allegations of past sexual abuse amounted to her.v‘vorcbl against her father’s.” Id. at 15-
21.

Significantly, however, the Court did not rule out the possibility that a sexual abuse claim
could be objectively verified in other cases. To the contrary, the Court recognized that various
kinds of evidence — that were not present in S.7. -- “would suffice” to meet the objective

verifiability element:

The kinds of evidence that would suffice would be a confession by
the abuser; a criminal conviction; contemporaneous records or
written statements of the abuser such as diaries or letters; medical
records of the person abused showing contemporaneous physical
injury resulting from the abuse; photographs or recordings of the
abuse; an objective eyewitness’s account; and the like. Such
evidence would provide sufficient objective verification of abuse,
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even il it occurred years before suit was brought, to warrant
application of the discovery rule.

Id. at 15 (internal citations omitted). Unlike the facts in 8.V, this type of evidence is present

here, and application of the discovery rule is therefore warranted.

For éi;;amp‘le, Katina.srhvas openly'gdniittt?d that. he had a *“sexual preference for teénage
boys,” that he used “oral sex and 131utﬁal,1£astﬁ1;b;;.ti_c)h [with minors] as an escape,” that he
“believ[ed] that it was a pieasurablé eﬁberfénce for the young boys,” and that he had “sexual
contact with apprc;xim'éte]y 5 teenage boys between the 1560’5 and early 1980°s.” (SLI Repoﬁ
at 3, 9) In addition, Katinas admitted to one of his former victims that it took him several years.
to “clean up” his act after moving to Dallas. (DZ Aff. §11) In the summary judgment context,
where the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to Doe IV and every reasonable
inference indulged in his favor, Katinas’s admissions essentially amount to a confession that
satisfies the objective verifiability prong by itself.

In addition to Katinas’s confessions, there is an abundance of other evidence that
objectively corroborates and verifies Katinas’s sexual abuse of minor boys like Doe IV. For
example, numerous victims -- including DZ, TS, and SA - as well as the other plaintiffs in this
action have come forward to corroborate the sexual abuse committed by Katinas. (DZ AfE. 9 4-
7; TS Aff. 7 5-8; SA Aff. 7 5-7; see also Parts V.A, .V.B) See Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary
Church of God, 534 8.E.2d 672, 680 (S.C. 2000) (comoborating evidence that will satisfy the
element of “objective verifiability” includes “evidence the abuser had sexually abused others™).
A forensic psychiatrist who examined Doe IV had no reason to doubt that Doe I'V was sexually
abused by Katinas. (Rosenstock IV Aff. § 3 & Ex. B. at 7-9; see also HT Draft Policies for
Child Safety at 20 (“There is little research evidence to support the contention that children

fabricate these reports . . . [and] children seldom lie about acts of sexual exploitation.”)) And the
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GOAA itself has concluded that Katinas “abuse[d] the power and prescience of his priestly

~ officg, -a.nd”d-id seduce and subsequently engage in sexual relations with a young man ‘of his

spiritual flock.” (Kontogiorgis Depo. Ex. 12 at 2-3) |

- In total, this _evid'eﬁce‘p;dvidés “sufﬁcieut objective verification of ,'abuse, even if it
occurred ycars:befo"re suit was broug'l;t, to-warrant application of the discovery rule” here. See
S.V,933 8.W.2d at 15. ,Fonthég;a reasons, there is no question that the discovery rule apph'es to

all the claims asserted by Doe IV.

2. Doe IV did not discover -- and should not have discovered -- the wrongful acts
and the resulting injury unti] recently.

Because the discovery rule applies in this case, Defendants have the burden to

conclusively prove that there is no genuine issue of material fact that Doe IV discovered, or in
the exercise of reasonable diligence should have discovered, the “injury and that it was likely
caused by the wrongful acts of another” at least two years (and for many claims four or five
years) before he filed suit. Childs, 974 S.W.2d at 40. Defendants have failed to meet that
burden. Under well-settled Texas law, the question of what one “should have known” is one of

fact, and a summary judgment is not a “trial by deposition or affidavit, or to be resolved by

weighing the relative strength of the conflicting facts and inferences.” Hassell v. Missouri Pac

RR. Co., 880 5.W.2d 39, 44 (Tex. App.--Terr 1994, writ denied); see also Childs, 974 S.W.2d
at 44 (“Inquiries involving the discovery rule usually entail questions for the trier of fact.”);
accord Logerquist v. Danforth, 932 P.2d 281, 287 (Ariz. App. Div. 2 1996) (“[D]etermination of
a claim’s accrual date usually is a question of fact, with the inquiry centering on the plaintiff’s
knowledge of the subject event and resultant injuries, whom the plaintiff believed was
responsible, and plaintiff’s diligence in pursuing the claim.”). This is precisely the case here,

thus preventing the limitations issue from being resolved by summary judgment.
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In determining whether Defendants have conclusively established when Doe IV knew or
should have known of the wrongful acts and resulting injuries, it is import_ant at the outset to
consider two aépec'ts of this case that are not present in most other discovery rule cases. First,'
Doe IV was 2 child af the time of the abuse, and his perceptions should be analyzed from the
standpoint of a child, not an adult. Children simply do not have the same judgment and maturity
as adults, and their c_bncépt of what is good or bad, right or wrong, is very undeveloped. See,
.e.g., Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 569 (2005) (“[A]s any parent knows and as the scientific
and sociological studies [confirm,] a lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of
responsibility are found in youth more often than in adults [and] . . . juveniles are more
vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences . . . and to psychological damage™) (internal
citations omitted). That is precisely the case here, where Doe IV “dealt with the events as a
child” and “was not capable of forming an adult, rational, and competent appreciation for the
harm he had experienced, nor was he capable of identifying Katinas’s actions as constituting
sexual abuse.” (Rosenstock IV Aff. § 10) Second, the abuser was a priest. As the Orthodox
Bishops of America (including the Greek Orthodox Bishops) recognize:

While sexual misconduct is sinful and harmful for any Christian, it
is especially grave and painful when the perpetrator is a
clergyman, because it so ofien entails a serious abuse of the
legitimate authority of the clergy within the community of the
Church . . .. The relationship of the clergyman to his parishioners
is one of a spiritval father to his spiritual children. The
clergyman’s authority carries with it an inherent and often

unrecognized power. Its depth in this relationship is such that the
victim, of whatever age, never truly acts freely.

(Khan Aff. § 4 & Ex. B) Doe 1V thus trusted and respected Katinas as a man of God, and
Defendants told him that he “misunderstood™ Katinas actions and that nothing inappropriate had

occurred. (Doe IV Father Depo. at 22, 60-62, 108) Under these circumstances, Doe IV did not

view (and could not be expected to view) the acts as wrongful.
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Measured against the backdrop of these factors, the evidence here raises genuine issues of
fact as to when Doe 1V discovered the wrongful acts of Kﬂafinas (not to mention the distinct
wrongful acts of the Defendants), as well as the resultr_’;zg injuries from those wrongful acts.
Childs, 974 S.W.Zd at 40. As to Katinas, the evidence ,shq}zvs that, uﬂtilrfecentfjr, Dog IV did not
view their inﬁeracﬁon_ as involving sexﬁal abuse or wrongful acts. (Rosenstock IV Aﬁ" 9 8)
Instead, he was deceived into thinking that he had “misunderstood™ and “'imagined” Katinas’s
actions, that “nothing had occurred,” thaf “Father Katinas wouldn’t lie,” and that Katinas “was a
good man.” (Doe IV Father Depo. at 60-62, 108; Doe IV Depo. at 177; Rosenstock TV Aff, §y 7-
8) And as to the Defendants, there is no evidence whatsoew;er of when Doe IV discovered or
should have discovered their integral role in allowing the sexual abuse to occur in the first place.
Certainly, the evidence does not conclusively establish that the operative date was March 1994
(when Doe IV turned 18), as Defendants contend.

Try as they might, Defendants cannot avoid this conclusion by relying solely on the
contention that Doe IV was aware that Katinas touched or fondled him when he was an altar boy.
(GOAA Mé)tion. at 3, 11; HT Motion at 13) Such contention does not establish that i)oe VIV
discovered, or should have discovered, the wrongful acts of Katinas, the GOAA Defendants, or
Holy Trinity and the injury resulting from the acts at that time. Nor does it constitute any
evidence that Doe IV (who was a minor at the time) knew that he was being sexually abused by
Katinas or that the GOAA Defendants and Holy Trinity had pre-existing knowledge about -- and
actually could have prevented -- Katinas’s sexual abuse before he preyed on Doe IV.
Accordingly, the evidence does not show that Doe IV discovered or should have discovered that
the GOAA Defendants and Holy Trinity were, in fact, responsible for Katinas abusing him, and

it certainly does not conclusively demonstrate that Doe IV knew or should have known that he
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had a cause of action against Katinas, the GOAA Defendants, or Holy Trinity. Aside from this
immaterial contention, the GOAA Defendants and Holy Trinity do not offer any concrete,
unequivocal, undisputed evidence‘that Doe I\_/ knew of any Defendant’s wrongful acts or the
resulting iﬁjuﬁes_around the time they occqrreq. For'exaﬁjple, thefe are no .;liary entl'ies; reports
- of sexual abuse, or counseﬁng records indicating that Doe IV identified rKat'inas’s actions as
constituting sexual abuse.'”

For similar reasons, Holy Trinity is also mistaken when it contends that Doe IV knew of
his injuries at the time of Katinas’s actions.'® (HT Motion at 13) Like thé gvidence showing that
Doe IV was not aware of Defendants’ (or even Ke'xtinas’) wrongful acts at the time they occurred,
the summary judgment evidence also demonstrates that Doe IV was not aware of -- and had not
discovered -~ any injury at the time he was sexually molested by Katinas or that those injuries
were likely caused by the wrongful acts of ancther. Childs, 974 S.W.2d at 40. In fact, in the
opinion of Dr. Harvey Rosenstock, the clinical psychiairist who evaluated Doe IV, Doe IV was
not aware of the harm he experienced from the sexual abuse by Katinas until recently, because
.he was forced to repress and suppress the “painful” and “noxious” memories' of the sexnal abuse
by Katinas. (Rosenstock IV Affidavit §9 4, 7-10) As a result, the nature of Doe IV’s injury was
inherently undiscoverable by him and “unlikely to be discovered within the prescribed
limitations period despite due diligence.” (Jd. §9§ 9-10) Thus, like the question of when Doe IV
discovered the wrongful acts, the question of when Doe IV discovered his resulting injury is also

a question of fact that cannot be resolved by summary judgment.

" Even if Defendants could establish that Doe IV was aware of the wrongful acts of Katinas, the
GOAA Defendants, and Holy Trinity before March 1994 (and they cannot), such awareness is legally
irrelevant because Doe I'V was a minor at the time of the abuse and therefore was under a legal disability
until he turned 18 on March 23, 1994. See Part VLB,

' The GOAA offers no evidence or argument as to when Doe IV suffered or supposedly
discovered his injuries. '
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For this reason, the GOAA Defendants’ emphasis on Doe IV’s after-the-fact deposition
testimony regarding his “suicidal 'througiﬁs” (GOAA Motion at 3, 11) does not conclusively
demonstrate that he knew of Katinqs’s or the Defendants’ wrongful acts at the time they occurred

| or that his injuries were the result qf those acts.- Se; Part VI.A, ébove. Indc;ed, Defendants have
‘made no showing that Doe IV actually connécted'his suicidal ideations to Katinas’s abuse at the
time -- much less the wrongful acts of Defendants that ailc;we'd that abuse to occur. See
Shahzade v. Gregory, 930 F. Supp.-673, 676 (D. Mass. 1996) (denying motion for summary
Jjudgmment becanse even if plaintiff admitted to knowledge of the sexual abuse, there was nothing
to show that the plaintiff was “aware -of a causal relation between the abuse and any harm which
she now claims was the result of such abuse™); ¢f. Rhone-Poulenc, Inc. v. Steel, 997 S.W.2d 217,
220, 224 (Tex. 1999) (although plaintiff was diagnosed with brain cancer in 1989, a fact question
prevented summary judgment on employer’s limitations defense because the employer did not
show that the plaintiff knew or should have known that his brain tumor was likely work related
more than two years before he filed his personal injury action in 1992); Hassell, 880 S.W.2d at
44-45 (although plaintiff was aware that he had some form of héaring loss as early as 1971 and
did not file suit until 1991, “[w]e cannot hold as a matter of law that [plaintiff’s] difficulties with
hearing necessarily charged him with notice of an injury caused by his employment sufficient to
initiate the running of limitations.™).

In many respects, this case is similar to Winkler v. Magnuson, 539 N.W.2d 821, 823
(Minn. App. 1995), another case involving claims of sexual abuse against a pastor by a male who
was 13 yéars old when the abuse started in 1968. The plaintiff did not discuss the pastor’s
conduct with anyone until the summer of 1991, when his brother also revealed that he had been

abused by the same pastor, and at that moment, the plaintiff began to realize there was a

PLAINTIFF JOHN DOE IV'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT — Page 34



connection between the abuse and the psychological problems he had experienced in his life. Jd.
The plaintiff filed suit in February 1994, and-the trial court granted summary judgment for the
defendants on the six-year statute of limitations after finding that the plaintiff knew or should
have known before F ebruéi'y 1988 that the Elbl-ISB'haC? caused his claimed injuries. /d. at 824.

On appeal, the plaintiff claimed that he _cﬁd not know.and should not have known that the
abuse caused his injuries until at.least the summer of 1 991, when he first discussed the pastor’s
conduct with his brother. In response, the defendants emphasized the plaintiff’s statement that
he never forgot what the pastor had done, arguing that this and other evidence indicated that the
plaintiff knew at that time that he in fact was abused and that it was injuring him. Id. Viewing
all' the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, however, the appellate court
concluded that the evidence was not conclusive and therefore reversed the summary judgment:

We believe, however, that a jury could nonetheless find that
[plaintiff] did not know that the abuse caused his injury until much
later. Although he admits never forgetting [the pastor’s| conduct,
he stated numerous times in his deposition that he did his best to
“block out” the memorjes. Further, [plaintiff] indicated that
although he was for many years . “uncomfortable” and
“embarrassed” about the situation, he never knew until recently
whether it was right or wrong. At the time of the abuse, [plaintiff]
placed great trust in.[defendant] as his pastor. Adding to his
confusion was the fact that [the pastor] portrayed the conduct to
him as having the imprimatur of religion, by telling him to keep it
a secret between the two of them and God. . . . This evidence,
viewed in the light most favorable to [plaintiff], helps demonstrate
the existence of a factual issne on the reasonable discovery date.
Id at 825-26.

The New Hampshire Supreme Court reached a similar result in Comrad v. Hazen, 665
A2d 372 (N.H. 1995). There, the plaintiff brought suit in 1993 for sexual abuse that allegedly
occurred in 1977. The trial court granted summary judgment on the grounds of limitations, and

the New Hampshire Supreme Court reversed. Although the plaintiff’s pleadings and affidavit
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made clear that she experienced pain and physical injury at the time of the assault, that she
recognized ‘t};at ﬂﬁe experience was “devastating and extremely painful,” and thatffo]lowinrg the
assault, “[s]he felt dirty, sick, and scared,” the supreme court nevertheless held that a question of
fact ex_i_sted_ as to whether thesé inju"riesé were sufﬁc'ient]y,serious to apprise her thata possible
vielation of her rights had taken pla_c'é. 1d. :;t 375-76.

The; same is true here. Mdulgiﬁg e"very reasonable inference in favor of Doe 1V, as the
non-movant, and resolving all doubts about the existence of a genuine issue of material fact in
his favor, the summary judgment evidence raises questions of fact regarding when_Doe v
discovered 01-' should have discovered the ﬁongﬁl acts and the resulting injury. ;I‘hose
questions of fact cannot be resolved by summary judgment, and as a result, Defendants’ motions
must be denied for this reason as well.

B. Holy Trinity Has Not Conclusively Negated the Applicability of the
Suppressed or Repressed Memory Doctrine.

For at least two reasons, Holy Trinity is wrong when it asserts that Doe TV cannot rely on
his repressed memory to support the application of the discovery rule.!” (HT Motion at 18)
First, Holy Trinity’s contention is erroneous and, in any event, irrelevant because Doe IV also
relies on the concept of memory suppression, not simply repression.  Significantly,
“suppression” of one’s memory is different from the “repression” of one’s memory, as the Texas
Supreme Court discussed in S.V., 933 S.W.Zd at 11, and neither the Texas Supreme Court nor
any other Texas appellate court has rejected the suppressed memory doctrine as a basis for
defeating the application of limitations. The concept of suppressed memory is “widely accepted

in psychiairy and psychology, is reliable, and [has been] subject[ed] to peer review.”

' The GOAA Defendants do not address — much less attempt to conclusively negate -- either the
suppressed or repressed memory doctrine in their motion for summary judgment. For this reason alone,
they have not met their summary judgment burden to establish their limitations defense as a maiter of law.
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(Rosenstock IV Aff. § 6) As a result pf suppressed memory, Doe IV was not aware of the harm
'he.exiaérienced from the sexual abuse by Katinas. (4 9 8-10) Indeed, Doe 'IV made persistent

efforts to avoid recollection of Katinas’s acts, and unknowingly developgd methods to try to
‘banish the miemories from his éonsciou'sness. (Id.; Doe 1V Depo. at 125-26, 137-38, 178-_80,' '
207) Accordingly, Doe IV sd%)pressed any knowledge of the sexual abuse he suffered at the -
“hands of Katinas until _recén’ﬂy,‘ when he became empowered by previously unknown facts to lift
this suppression. (Rosenstock IV Aff. § 8) Viewed in the light most favorable 4o Doe IV, as the
non-movant, this evidence plainly raises a question of fact as to whether and for how long Doe
N suppressed any memory of his séxual abuse. This fact issue is sufficient tf; defeat summary
judgment on the discovery rule, even apart ﬁ'orn.the facts discussed above.

Second, Holy Trinity is also mistaken when it contends that “[tJhe Texas Supreme Court
has categorically rejected repressed memory as sufficient evidence to satisfy the objective
verification prong of the discovery rule.” (HT Motion at 18) Contrary to Defendants’ assertion,.
the Texas Supreme Court has not “categorically rejected” the repressed memory doctrine. (See
id.) Rather, in S.¥., the Couﬂ: mer-ely concluded that opinions in the area of repressed memory as
of the early 1990s, by themselves, could not meet the “objective verifiability” element for
extending the discovery rule. 8.V, 933 S.W.2d at 19-20. In so concluding, however, the Court
specifically noted that “we have not held that such testimony can never suffice, at least in
connection with other evidence.” Id at 15. Nonetheless, in S.V., the only evidence offered by
the plaintiff to objectively verify her abuse was the expert testimony of a psychiatrist regarding

repressed memories, and the Court found that evidence alone to be insufficient in that case to

establish the objective verification prong.

PLAINTIFF JOHN DOE IV'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT - Page 37



In this case, by contrast, there is an abundance of other evidence fhat objectively verifies
the sexual abuse by Katinas. See Part VILA(1)(b). That evidence -- even without the testimony
of Dr. Rosénstock -- is more than sufficient to meet this prong of the discovery rule.
Accgbrdihgly,‘ there is no basis to summarily reject Dr. Rosenstock’s opinioﬂs or th_é repressed (or
suppressed) memory doctrine. As the Arizona Supreme Court recognized in Roe v. Doe, 955_ -
P.2d 951, 960 (Ariz. 1998): . . o

A victim whose memory is inaccessible lacks conscious awareness
of the event and thus cannot know the facts giving rise to the cause
[of action]. The policy behind the discovery rule is thus served by
application to repressed memory cases involving childhood sexual
abuse and is, we believe, logically appropriate given that the
intentional act of the tortfeasor caused both the damage and the
repression of memory. To hold otherwise would be to effectively

reward the perpetrator for the egregious nature of his conduct and
the severity of the resulting emotional injury.

Id. at 960 (internal citation omitted); see also Shahzade v. Gregory, 930 F. Supp. 673, 675 (D.
Mass. 1996} (“[Flundamental fairness requires the ‘discovery rule’ to apply to tort claims
brought by victims of sexual abuse whose memories of such abuse have been repressed until
after the statute oflimitations has run.”); Hearndon v. Graham, 767 So.2d 1179, 1181, 1186 (Fia.
2000) (discovery rule applies to tort action based on childhood sexual abuse where plaintiff
alleges that she suffered from traumatic amnesia caused by the abuse); Moriarty v. Garden
Sanctuary Church, 534 S.E.2d 672, 682 (S.C. 2000) (sexual abuse victim who suffers from
repressed memory syndrome may rely on discovery rule); Ault v. Jasko, 637 N.E.2d 870, 873
(Ohio 1994) (discovery rule applies to toll limitations where a victim of childhood sexual abuse
represses memories of that abuse until a later time); McCollum v. D'drey, 638 A.2d 797, 799-

800 (N.H. 1994) (applying the common law discovery rule in child sexual abuse case).'®

. '® Leading commentators have likewise recognized that child sexuval abuse is often accompanied
by symptoms of dissociation or depersonalization involving an alteration in the victim’s perception so
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C. The Existence of a Confidential Relationship Between Defendants and Doe IV
Affects the Application of the Discovery Rule, Fraudulent Concealment, and
Equitable Estoppel. ' :

In addition to the defects discussed above in Defendants’ motions and their summary
* judgment evidence, the existence of a conﬁdentia]__—'relgti'dnship between Defendants and Doe IV -
- or,-at the very least; a fact question regarding that relationship -- is also fatal to Defendants’

_motions here.'’

1. Because Doe IV’s claims do not imgﬁcqte the First Amendment, Defendants’
reliance on Turner and Hawkins is misplaced.

Defendants initially argue that they are entitled to summary judgment on Doe IV’s breach
of fiduciary duty or confidential relationship claim because an examination of “the relationship
between a parishioner and [the GOAA Defendants] ... . would necessarily involve excessive
entangiement by the government with the Church in violation of the Establishment Clause.”
(GOAA Motion at 5; see also HT Motion at 8 (“Texas refuses to recognize the existence of a

fiduciary relationship between a minister or church and a member of a congregation.”™)) This is

that the child’s usual sense of reality is temporarily lost or changed. C.B. Scrignar, Post-Traumatic Stress
Disorder 149 (1984). One study has revealed that 64 percent of the adults in an incest survivors’ group
did not have full recall of their childhood abuse and suffered some degree of amnesia. J.L. Herman & E.
Schatzow, Recovery and Verification of Memories of Childhood Sexual Trauma, Psychoanalytic
Psychology, 4(1), 1-14 (1987). Further, some children succeed in blocking trauma from their
consciousness by “dissociating themselves from the act when it occurs.” Christopher Bagley & Kathleen

King, Child Sexual Abuse 139 (1990).

** The existence of a confidential relationship (or a fact question pertaining thereto) has important
implications for the application of the discovery rule, fraudulent concealment, and equitable estoppel. For
example, if Defendants are not entitled to summary judgment on the existence of a confidential
relationship (and for the reasons discussed below, they are not), there is no question that the discovery
rule applies to Doe IV’s claims. See, e.g., Willis v. Maverick, 760 5.W.2d 642, 645 (Tex. 1988) (special
relationship between the parties “justifies the imposition of the discovery rule”). Furthermore, the GOAA.
Defendants’ and Holy Trinity’s silence in the face of a duty to speak constitutes fraudulent concealment
and/or estoppels, which would likewise be sufficient to toll limitations. See, e.g., Santanna Natural Gas
Corp. v. Hamon Operating Co., 954 S.W.2d 885, 890-91 (Tex. App.—~Austin 1997, pet. denied).
Nonetheless, Doe IV’s defenses do not turn or otherwise depend on the existence of a confidential
relationship, and Defendants’ motions must be denied regardless of the nature of that relationship.
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not a ground for summary judgment, and even if it were, it is inapplicable because this case does

not implicate any First Amendment concerns.
In making this argument, Defendants do not rely upon ahy‘summary Judgment evidence;

they do not argue that the undisputedffactsr demonstrate tﬂa‘f no ﬁduéiary duty existed between

~~ Defendants and Doe IV under the circumstances here: and. they do nbt'nmvg: for summary

Jjudgment under TeX. R. CIv. P. 166a(i) on the ground that there is ﬂo evidence to support the
existence of a fiduciary or confidential r-eal.agt_ticmship.20 Instead, Defendants rely entirely on
Hawkins v. Trinity Baptist Church, 30 S.W.3d 446 (Tex. App.—Tyler 2000, no pet.); Turner v.
Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Sa-z'nts, 18 S.W.3d 877 (Tex. App.--Dallas 2000, pet.
denied); Doe IV v. Roman Catholic Diocese of Galveston-Houston, 2006 WL 2413721 (8.D.
Tex. 2006); and Doe XV v. Roman Catholic Diocese of Dallas, 2001 WL 856963 (Tex. App.—
Dallas 2001, pet. denied) (not designated for publication), for the proposition that there is no
fiduciary duty between a church and its members under Texas law. (GOAA Motion at 5-6; HT
Motion at 8) As set forth below, however, these cases were decided on First Amendment
grounds, are inapposite, and do not apply here.

In Turner, a former missionary brought various claims against a church for injuries he
allegedly suffered during and after his missionary work in Guatemala. The defendant church
moved for summary judgment on two grounds: (1) all of the plaintiff’s claims were barred by the
Establishment and Free Exercise of Religion Clauses of the First Amendment; and (2) no
evidence supported the plaintiff’s causes of action, including his claim for breach of fiduciary

duty. Turner, 18 S.W.3d at 885. In affirming the trial court’s grant of summary jndgment, the

?® Notwithstanding Defendants’ present contention that they do not owe 2 fiduciary duty to Doe
IV, Nicolas Carayannopoulos, a former President of the Holy Trinity Parish Council, testified that the
Parish Council owed the parishioners of Holy Trinity the duties of prudence and good faith and fair
dealing. (N. Carayannopoulos Depo. at 154-55)
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court of appeals observed that all of the facts offered by the plaintiff to support his fiduciary duty
claim “involve either religious d-ocirine and pracfices or the internal policies of the Church.” Id.
at 897. Accordingly, the “de?enninaﬁon of whether a confidential or fiduciary relationship exists
. would require the courts to ip-te-r}:rét reﬁg‘iéus Elo?:trine‘, pfqétiées, and ;the internal policies of the
church.” 7d Because “tm]aking such an é}caminétjdh of t}_;e relationship between the Church
and its missionaries would necessarily. involve excessive ;ent'anglement by the government with
the Church in violation of the Establishment Clause,” the court concluded that the plaintiff’s
claim that a confidential or fiduciary relationship existed between the church and him was barred
by the First Amendment. Id. -Simi]arly, the court in Hawkins likewise “decline[d] to determine
that the pastor-member relationship in this case established a fiduciary duty” in light of the
court’s “concemns toward treading upon the Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment.”
Hawkins, 30 S.W.2d at 453 (emphasis added).”’
In stark contrast to these cases, this case does not involve religions doctrine or practices.
Nor does it require an examination of the relationship between a church and its members, such
that it would involve excessive entanglement by the courts .into ‘;he affairs of the Greek Orthodox
Church. Under such circumstances — where the First Amendment is not implicated —
numerous courts have held that a diocese and clergy owe fiduciary duties to the persons they
serve or, alternatively, that the existence of any such confidential relationship is a question of
fact.
For example, in Sanders v. Casa View Baptist Church, 898 F. Supp. 1169 (N.D. Tex.

1995), aff’d, 134 F.3d 331 (5th Cir. 1998), plaintiffs who had received marital counseling from a

#! Defendants’ reliance on the unpublished opinions in Doe I and Doe XV fares no better. The
courts in Doe I and Doe XV did not engage in any discussion of whether the particular facts in those cases
supported the existence of a fiduciary or confidential relationship between the church and the plaintiffs.
Instead, the courts merely cited Turner and Hawkins-to support the conclusion that the church did not owe
a fiduciary duty to plaintiffs under the circumstances of those cases.
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minister and had sexual relationships with the minister brought suit against the church and
minister for, among c;tl"lér claims, breach of fiduciary duty. After concluding that the plaintiffs’
claims did not implicate the First Arﬁen'dment, the court recognized that, under Texas law,
- “certain infonna?_-relétibnShip’s-‘ma} give rise fq a ﬁduci@ duty.” Id. at 1176 (citing Crim Trz{cfc
& Tractor Co. v. Navistar Int'l Transp. 'Cdi'p..,~82:3 S.W.2d 591, 594 (Tex. 1992)). As the Texas
Supreme Court has observed, such f‘conﬂ@ér;tiél relationships” may arise “where one person
trusts and relies upon another, whether the relation is a moral, social, domestic, or merely -
personal one” Id. (quoting Crim Truck). Further, “the law recognizes the existence pf
confidential relatioﬁships in those cases ‘in which influence has been acquired and abused, in.
which confidence has been reposed and betrayed.”™ Id. (quoting Crim Truck). Importantly, as
the Sanders court observed, the “existence of a confidential relationship is usually a guestion of
Jact” Id. (quoting Crim Truck) (emphasis added). Based on these well-settled principies of
Texas law, the court therefore held that “genuine issues of material fact are present in this case
regarding whether confidential relationships existed between [the minister] and Plaintiffs ‘in
which influence had been acquired and abuséd, m which confidence had been reposed and
betrayed.”™ Id. (quoting Crim Truck); see also Martinelli v. Bridegeport Roman Catholic
Diocesan Corp., 196 F.3d 409, 429 (2d Cir. 1999) (*[Ijrespective of the duties of the Diocese to
its parishioners generally, the jury could reasonably have found that the Diocese’s relationship
with [plaintiff], based on the particulars of [plaintiff’s] ties to the [abusive priest] and the

Diocese’s knowledge and sponsorship of that relationship, was of a fiduciary nature.”).”

2 Other jurisdictions have similarly concluded that a diocese or priest may owe fiduciary duties
to their congregants. See Koenig v. Lambert, 527 N.W.2d 903, 906 (S.D. 1995) (“[Plaintiff] was taught to
trust and respect members of the Diocese. [Plaintiff] put his trust and faith in the members of the
Diocese, and was encouraged to do so by the Diocese. . .. [T]f there is a trust relationship [between
doctor and patient, architect and client; attorney and client, and tenants in common], there must also be
one between a Diacese and the members of the faith it purports to serve.™), overruled on other grounds by
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The same is true here. As a result, this case simply does not and cannot implicate any
First Afneﬁdment concerns. And without First Amendment implications, Defendants havé cited
no authority holding that 2 fiduciary or confidential relationship cannot exi_st under any
circumstances between Doe IV and Défendan;cs. There is none. Rather, as the-Texas Suprar]qé-
Court recognized, the f‘exjsteﬁce.-of }a confidential relationship is usually a guestion of fact.”
Crim Truck & Tractor Ca.,_SZZ? s.wad at 1176 (emphasis added); see Schiller v. Elick, 240
S.W.2d 997, 1000 (Tex. 1951). Accordingly, because Texas law recognizes the existence of
confidential relationships in cases like this, in which “one person trusts and relies upon another”
or in wilich ““influence has been acquired and abused, in which confidence has been ;eposcd and
betrayed,’”” the trier of fact must ultimately decide if such a confidential relationship existed
under the circumstances here. Crim Truck & Tractor Co., 823 S.W.2d at 1176 (quoting Texas

Bank & Trust Co. v. Moore, 595 S.W.2d 502, 507 (Tex. 1980)).%

Stratmeyer v. Stratmeyer, 567 N.W.2d 220 (S.D. 1997); Moses v. Diocese of Colorado, 863 P.2d 310,
322-23 (Colo. 1993) (evidence supported jury’s finding that a fiduciary relationship existed between
bishop and plaintiff who sought counseling from the bishop, and that the diocese and bishop breached that
duty); Jones by Jones v. Trane, 591 N.Y.S.2d 927, 931 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1992) (“[IJnasmuch as it is
conduct, and not creed, that underlies plaintiffs’ actions, and that the potential for civil COnsequences
exists equaily as to religious and non-religious persons alike, . . . the First Amendment does not come into
. play to preclude plaintiffs’ [breach of fiduciary duty action].”); Destefano v. Grabrian, 763 P.2d 275, 284
(Colo. 1988) (priest who held himself out to the community as a professional or trained counselor owed
fiduciary duty to plaintiff “created by his undertaking” to counsel her); Erickson v. Christenson, 781 P.2d
383, 384-86 (Or. Ct. App. 1989) (complaint stated valid claim against pastor and church that employed
pastor for breach of confidential relationship arising from pastor’s seduction of plaintiff through a

counseling relationship).

B Holy Trinity is thus wrong when it asserts that “a majority of courts throughout the country”
refuse to recognize the existence of a fiduciary duty in circumstances like those here. (HT Motion at 8)
Rather, as even one of the cases cited by Holy Trinity observes, “[c|lergy and religious organizations are
not absolutely immune from civil liability” and “causes of action for breach of fiduciary duty with respect
to [the] sexual misconduct of clergy [have been] recognized” in numerous jurisdictions. A.R.B. v. JL.G.,
913 5.W.2d 92, 98 (Mo. Ct. App. 1995). In any event, the three out-of-state cases cited by Holy Trinity
are distinguishable because the courts in those cases concluded that defendants did not owe a fiduciary
duty to plaintiffs because “the allegation of fiduciary duty was simply an elliptical way to state a clergy
malpractice claim, a cause of action that . . . [was] not recognized in [those jurisdictions}.” Dausch v.
Rykse, 52 F.3d 1425, 1429, 1438 (7th Cir. 1994); see also Schmidt v. Bishop, 779 F. Supp. 321, 326
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2. Holy Trinity has not conclusively negated the existence of a confidential
relationship based on vicarious liability.

There is similarly no basis, in law or in fact, for Holy Trinity’s c-ontention - which_is
| relegated to a lone footnote -- that “Doe 1V has no vicarious hablhty claun agamst [Holy
Trmxty] * (HT Motion at- 6 n. 7) Holy Trmlty does not offer any summaly Judgment evidence
demonstratmg that Katmas was not acting in the course and scope of his employment; it does not
argue that the undisputed summary judgment establishes that Katinas was not acting within the
~ course and scope of his employmént; and it does not move for summaryv ;f'udgment, pursuant to
TeX. R. C1v. P. 166a(i), on the ground that there is no evidence that Katinas was acting in the
course and scope of his employment. Instead, Holy Trinity merely asserts -- without support --
that Katinas’s “physical[] assault [of] children” -at the church was “wholly unrelated to [the
church’s] business” and therefore “outside the scope of [his] authority and scope of [his]
employment [as] an agetlt or employee.” (Jd.)**

For these reasot]s, Holy Trinity’s reliance on Sanders and Tichenor v. Roman Catholic
Church of Archdiocese of New Orleans, 32 F.3d 953 (5th Cir. 1994), is misplaced, and contrary
to Holy Trinity’s suggestion, those cases do not hold that a clergy’s misconduct can never be
within the scope of a cleric’s employment. (HT Motion at 6 n.7) Rather, in Sanders, the court,
in granting summary judgment to the church for its alleged vicarious liability for the intentional

torts of one of its ministers during marital counseling, specifically noted that “[c]ounseling was

(S.D.N.Y. 1991) (finding thet plaintiff’s breach of fiduciary claim was “merely another way of alleging
that the defendant grossly abused his pastoral role, that is, that he engaged in malpractice,” which was not
actionable under New York law) (emphasis in original); Schieffer v. Catholic Archdiocese of Omaha, 508
N.W.2d 907, 912 (Neb. 1993) (agreeing with reasoning of Schmids case that breach of fiduciary duty
claim against pnest was simply another way of alleging matpractice, which was not actionable).

* Although it is not Doe IV’s burden to do so, he has nevertheless demonstrated that Defendants
not only knew about Katinas’s actions, but actively tolerated them by moving Katinas from one parish to
another where he left a trail of damaged youth in his path.
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not a part of [the minister’s] job description or within his job authority.” Sanders, 898 F. Supp.

at 1178. In fact, the minister was informed that “he was 1-1e—ver to counsél,”- and the court

therefore found that the minister “did not have actual or apparent authority to counsel Plaintiffs.”
I at 1‘178-;79. Defendants have presented no such evidcnge.f hére. .

Furlhe;i, although the Sanders court further recognized that “[a]n employer who- ratifies
tﬁe tortioué conduct of an agent may be vicariously liable for such tortious conduct.. . .Vv;h'en the
employer fails to repudiate the known acts of an employee,” the court nevertheless found that the
church did not ratify the minister’s tortious acts there because it did not know (and should not
have known) about the minister’s conduct. Id at 1179; .;*ee alse Dausch, 52 F.3d at 1436
(Ripple, 1., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (plaintiff’s complaint “failed to allege that
. .. church defendants knew or should have known of the necessity and opportunity to exercise
control over [priest who engaged in sexual misconduct]” and failed to allege any indications that
the priest was having sexual relations).”> Of course, the same cannot be said here. Indeed,
Defendants have not moved for summary judgment on Doe IV’s ratification claims -- nor qould
they do sd suclcessﬁjlly. As detailed above, Defendants here inew about Katinas’s se);ual
propensities for decades (see Part V), but despite that knowledge, they failed to repudiate it.
Instead, 'they permitted it to continue over and over and over again, giving Katinas the access and
the power to destroy the lives of more boys.

Defendants’ reliance on Tichenor is equally unavailing. In that case, the court merely

determined that the Archdiocese of New Orleans and St. Rita’s Roman Catholic Church in New

Otleans were not subject to personal jurisdiction in Mississippi in a suit arising from a priest’s

¥ Even in noting that sexual misconduct by a clergy member is ordinarily beyond the scope of
employment of the cleric, the Sanders court relied on evidence of the church’s policy providing that
*adultery by any member of the clergy is immediate grounds for dismissal.” Sanders, 898 F. Supp. at
117%. In contrast, Defendants offered no such evidence here.
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sexual abuse of a minor in Louisiana. Tichenor, 32 F.3d at 956-61. Importantly, in so0
concluding, the court specifically found that the AI;(‘:hdiOCBSE had not authorized or ratified the
priest’s conduct. Id at 960. Thus, unlike this case, there was »no evidence in Tichenor that the
VrArchdioce;::e or St. Rita’s knew (or even __‘S}}S_pébtéd) ﬂ;e“prie_st‘ had ‘engaged in aﬂy sexual
- misconduct: . S

The record, however, permits of no conclusion that the
defendants suspected that [the priest] had engaged in sexual
improprieties or might do so in the future. It is doubtful that the
Archdiocese or St. Rita’s knew anything about [the priest’s] darker
side. [The priest] was diligent in guarding his secrets. He did not
disclose his extracurricular activities to anyone at anytime in the
course of his employment and, from his perspective, with good
reason. No tangible evidence in the form of a criminal history or
discipline exists that would have been uncovered in a background
check. ... Thereis.. . nothing to indicate that the Archdiocese or
St. Rita’s knew or should have known what was taking place in
[the priest’s] private world.

Id at 960-61. In contrast, the summary judgment record here demonstrates (and, at the very
least, raises a fact issue) that Defendants knew about Katinas’s predatory behavior. See Part
. V.B. As a result, Holy Trinity has not conclusively negated its vicarious liability for Katinas’s
actions, and its motion must therefore be denied.

D. Limitations Have Been Tolled on All of Doe IV’s Claims Because of Defendanits’
Fraudulent Concealment,

Like the discovery rule, fraudulent concealment is an equitable doctrine that provides an
affirmative defense to the plea in bar of limitations. See Arabian Shield Dev. Co. v. Hunt, 808
S.W.2d 577, 584 (Tex. App.--Dallas 1991, writ denied). When fraudulent concealment is raised,
limitations is deferred “because a person cannot be permitted to avoid liability for his actions by
deceitfully concealing wrongdoing ﬁnﬁl limitations has run.” Gibson v. Ellis, 58 S.W.3d 818,
823-24 (Tex. App.--Dallas 2001, no pet.); see S.¥., 933 S.W.2d at 6. Consequently, fraudulent

concealment “tolls the statute [of limitations] until the fraud is discovered or could have been
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discovered with reasonable diligence.” Velsicol Chem. Corp. v. Winograd, 956 S.W.2d 529, 531

(Tex. 1997). As the Texas Supreme Court observed:

Texas courts have long-adhered to the view that fraud vitiates
whatever it touches, and have consistently held that a party will not
be permitted to avail himself of the protection of a limitations
statute when by his own fraud he has prevented the other party
from seeking redress within the period of limitations. Ta reward a
wrongdoer for his own fraudulent contrivance would make the
statute a means of encouraging rather than preventing frand.

Borderlon v. Peck, 661 S.W.2d 907, 908-09 (Tex. 1983). Fraudulent concealment therefore
estops a defendant from relying on the statute of limitations as an affirmative defense to the
plaintiff’s claim. Mitchell Energy -C'orp. v. Bartlett, 958 S.W.2d 430, 439 (Tex. App.--Fort
Worth 1997, pet. denied). Fraudulent concealment may be shown by circumstantial evidence as
well as direct evidence. Earle v. Ratliff; 998 §.W.2d 882, 888 (Tex. 1999).

The doctrine applies when a party makes fraudulent misrepresentations or, if under a duty
to disclose, conceals facts from the plaintiff and thereby prevents the plaintiff from discovering
its cause of action against the defendant. See, e.g., Santanna Natural Gas Corp. v. Hamon
Operating Co., 954 S.W.2d 885, 890-91 (Tex. App.—Austin 1997, péé. denied). The “gist” of the
defense is “the defendant’s active suppression of the truth or its failure to disclose the truth when
it is under a duty to speak.” /d. at 890. In order to invoke fraudulent concealment, the plaintiff
must show: (1) actual knowledge by the defendant that a wrong has occurred, and (2) a fixed
purpose to conceal the facts necessary for the plaintiff to know that it has a cause of action. Id.:
see Savage v. Psychiatric Inst. of Bedford, Inc., 965 S.W.2d 745, 753 (Tex. App.--Fort Worth

1998, pet. denied).”® As set forth below, fraudulent concealment applies to the circumstances

8 Although Holy Trinity additionally contends that fraudulent concealment requires evidence that
the plaintiff reasonably relied on the deception (HT Motion at 21), there is no such requirement where the
concealment is due to a defendant’s silence — as opposed to an affirmative misrepresentation. See
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~ here, and the summary judgment evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to Doe 1V, easily
raises a fact issue with respect to each challenged element of that defense.

I. The summary judgment evidence raises a guestion of fact reparding the essential
elements of Doe IV’s fraudulent concealment defense.

Although Hély- Trinity (But_ﬁot the GQAA’D;fendants) attempts to negate Doe IV’s ]
reliance on the frandulent concealment d_efeﬁsé to lixi}iiatiél{s, it makes no effort to conclusively
negate the existence of any uncierlying tort or its knowledge of the wrong. It cannot do so
because the summary juciéfrient evidence conclusively estab]isﬁes or, at the very least, raises a
fact issue regarding those elements of Doe IV’s fraudulent concealment defense. See Part V,
above.

| In particular, the evidence shows that Doe IV’s parents notified both Holy Trinity and the
GOAA about the incident between Katinas and their son in 1987. (Triantafilou Depo. at 105-07;
Doe IV Father Depo. at 38-43, 98-100) Under the puise of conducting an investipation,
Defendants sent Triantafilou, to Dallas to meet with Doe IV’s parents. (Triantafilou Depo. at 7-
9, 56-61, 137) Triantafilou initially met with Doe IV’s parents, and in an effort to “protect the
church,” he instructed them “not to call the police™ or “talk to anybody™ about the incident. (Doe
IV Father Depo. at 48-49; Triantafilou Depo. at 77) After conducting a single interview with
Doe IV’s parents and Katinas about the matter (and without interviewing anyone else),
Triantafilou then convinced Doe IV’s parents that their son had “misunderstood” Katinas’s
actions, that “nothing had occurred,” that “Father Katinas wouldn’t lie,” “he was a good man,”
“he has been in several ciiﬁ"erent parishes and he has always been well respected and well

received,” “he has no blemish . .. in his past at all,” and that “[t]here is no record of him ever

having any type of an incident like this.” (/d. at 60-62, 108; Triantafilou Depo. at 77) Doe IV’s

Savage, 965 S.W.2d at 753 (elements of fraudulent concealment are (1) the defendant had actval
knowledge of the wrong, (2) a duty to disclose the wrong, and (3) a fixed purpose to conceal the wrong).
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_parents “listened to the church,” accepted its findings, and relayed Triantafilou’s representations
to their son. (Dé)e 1V Father Depo. at 63-64) Because the evidence thus raises fact issues "on
DoeIV's ﬁgudulent concealment defense, Defendants’ motions must be denjed.”’

In any event, Nwheth;r"or '1710t Defendants h-ad specific knowledge of Katinasf_s sexual
abuse olf Doe IV is ulltirhaiely irré_le'\fanfto: the fraudulent concealment analysis. Rather, as the
Second Circpit recognized in Martif?gllf v. Bridegeport Roman Catholic Diocesan Corp., 196 .
F.3d 409, 426 (2d Cir. 1999), “the Diocese’s knowledge of the actual identity of an assaulted
child was not required for it to realize that there was likely to be an actionable claim, or for it to
seek to conce-'al from such a potential plaintiff the facts underlying the claim.” It is suﬁicient to
show that the defendant *had and concealed actual awareness of facts that created a likely
potential for harm.” Id. (emphasis in original). That is precisely what occurred here given the
evidence that Defendants were aware of Katinas’s sexual proclivities toward young boys and that
he had sexually assaulted minors before being transferred to Dallas. See Parts V.A, V.B.

Moreover, Defendants unquestionably also had knowledge of their own torts - e.g., their
negligence in investigating, hiring, sui:erviéing, reassigning, and retaining priests (such as
Katinas) known to have abused minors, failing to inform parishioners that priests assigned to
their parishes were a threat to their children, fostering an environment and culture where the
abuse of children could flourish, and the like. With respect to these facts, there can be no doubt
that Defendants were fillly aware of the risks posed by Katinas, and despite those risks, made the
reckless decision to retain him in the active priesthood without regard to the welfare of children

in the communities he purported to serve. See Part V, above.

*" Further, although Triantafilou took copious notes of his so-called “investigation” of the
incident between Katinas and Doe IV (Triantafilou Depo. at 46, 65, 118-20, 173, 183-84), the GOAA has
failed to produce those notes in this lawsuit despite request (Khan Aff. § 4), thus raising the presumption
that the notes would be unfavorable to the GOAA. This likewise demonstrates that Defendants had
knowledge of Katinas’s wrongtul acts and a fixed purpose to conceal them from Plaintiffs.
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Holy Trinity similarly misses the point when it argues that Doe 1V was clearly “aware”
that ﬁe had been abused (HT Motion at 22), thus implying that it did not conceai the “tort” from
him. Although Holyi Trinity (and the GOAA Defendants) did, in fact, conceal that tort by,
_among othef act_s,‘failin'g tb__ seek out f(atinas’s victims in the community, Holy Trinit? onéé
again ignores the fact.ﬂm't Doe_- IV has also alleged a number of other toris against Holy Trinity :
- and the GOAA Defendants - e.g., negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, and fraud. Importantly,
it is those torts -- not the sexual assault itself -- that Defendants also fraudulently concealed.
Thus, Doe IV was not required to demonstrate that he was “deceived into thinking [he] [was] not_
aimsed” (see HT Motion at 23) ;- although he has in fact made that sho-wing. (See, eg.,
Rosenstock IV Aff. § 8; Doe IV Father Depo. at 60-62, 108; Doe IV Depo. at 177; Triantafilou
Depo. at 77)

With respect to its own torts, there is no question that Holy Trinity (and the GOAA
Defendants) used deception to conceal the facts from Doe IV (and others). For example, despite
knowing of the danger Katinas posed to the communities at large, neither the GOAA Defendants
nor Holy Trinity warned Doé IV, the parishioners of their congregations, or the general public
that they had placed a known sexual predator in their midst. (See Part V; Kontogiorgis Depo. at
74-75, 81, 144, 203-04, 207, 218, 263) Instead, faced with a moral, ethical, and legal duty to
speak, they remained silent and transferred Katinas from parish to parish. See Martinelli, 196
F.3d at 426 (evidence that diocese feiled to warn or inform parishioners of priest’s conduct was

sufficient to establish fraudulent concealment defense).

2. The evidence of fraudulent concealment here is sufficient to toll the statute of

This evidence of concealment by Defendants is more than sufficient to toll the statute of

limitations. In Roman Catholic Diocese of Covington v. Secter, 966 S.W.2d 286 (Ky. Ct. App.
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1998), the court addressed a similar situation with far less egregious facts. Secter involved a
former student who was sexually abused by a church-operated s'chc')ol- émpioyee in 1976; he sued
the diocese 17 years later in 1993 for negligently hiring, supervising, and retaining the employee
' as a teacher and guiﬂance cc‘)unsdor in its schools. The trial c_c;i?rt- éismissed the student’s cléjrp
against the emp}ﬁy:é* =as barred by limitations, bul denied the diocese’s mdtion for.s_ummary: '
judgment after fiﬁding that material factual issues existed regarding.whether the digceée'
concealed or obstructed the plaintiff from obtaining information material to his claim. /d. at 288.
At trial, the diocese moved for directed verdict on limitations, and the trial court again denied its
motion. Id. Afier the jury returned a verdict against the diocese,-the diocese appealed the trial
court’s refuisal to grant a directed verdict.

On appeal, the student argued that the diocese should be estopped from relying on the
statute of limitations “due to its failure to report incidents nf sexual abuse by [the teacher] to the
authorities as well as its continued concealment of its knowledge in secret archive files and its
failure to inform students, faculty, and staff.” Id. at 290. The diocese, on the other hand, argued
that “the conceahnen£ must “in point in fact’ mislead or deceive the plaintiff so that he or she. is
lulled into inaction or is otherwise obstructed from investigating or instituting suit during the
limitations period.” Jd. In disagreeing with the diocese and affirming the judgment in favor of
the student, the court noted that the diocese “knew prior to the period of time in which [the
student] was abused that [the teacher] had sexually abused students and would continue to be ‘a
problem’ and continued to receive reports of [the teacher’s] sexually abusing students during at
least part of the time period in which [the student] was abused.” Jd Nevertheless, the diccese
“took no action to discipline or sanction [the teacher], to inform other students, parents, or

employees, or to report the incidents to state authorities.” Id. Instead, the diocese kept the
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information “secret and confidential,” and the student had “no clue that the Diocese had prior
knowledge” of the teacher’s propensities until 1992 whern‘h‘e learned from television reports that
the teacher had sexually abused other students. Id. at 287, 290. Until that time, the student
“neither‘knew n;)r had reason to know that he had _a'pc;t'ménﬁal cause of action agaﬁls_t ﬁ]& Diocése
- for:causing tortious injury to him due to the Diocese’s concealment of its limowlézdge of [the
_tqgcﬁef’s] actions toward other students.” Id. at 290. Because the diocese clearly 6bstructcd the
prosecution against it by continually concealing the fact that it had knowledge of the teacher’s
problem well before the time that the student was abused, limitations was properly tolled. Jd.
The same is true here. Like the diocese in Sec-ter, Defendants knew before Doe TV was
abused that Katinas had exhibited deviant sexnal behavior toward minor boys. See Part V.B,
above. Thus, like the diocese in Secter, Defendants knew that Katinas would continue to be “a
problem,” and they continued to receive reports of Katinas’s inappropriate behavior with other
young boys during the same period in which Doe IV was abused. (See Part V.D.; Doe I Depo. at
49-50; Doe IV Father Depo. at 38-42, 47-49) Nevertheless, Defendants did not take any action
to sﬁpervise, discipline, or sanction Katinas. (See Part V; see alse Triantafilon Depo. ﬁt 110) It
did not warn other parishioners, parents, or the communities where Katinas served. (See Part V;
see also Triantafilou Depo. at 77, 105, 182-83) And it did not report these incidents to the state
authorities (as the law required them to do). (See Part V; see also Doe IV Father Depo. at 48-49)
Instead, just as the diocese did in Secter, Defendants kept their information about Katinas secret
and confidential, and as a result, Doe IV had “no clue” that Defendants had prior knowledge of

Katinas’s propensities unti} recently. Because Doe IV neither knew nor had reason to know that

he had claims against Defendants for causing tortious injury to him -- as a result of their
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concealment of their knowledge of Katinas’s actions toward other minors - the doctrine of
fraudulent concealment tolls the statute of Iirﬂiiations here.

Moreover, the evidence discussed above is even superior to the ev;dence upon which the
court relied in Koenig v. Lambert, 527 N W 2d 903 (S.D. 1995), to ﬁnd a question of material
fact on fraudulent concealment. In that case, a former altar boy sued-a priest and a diocese in
1992 for alleged sexual abuse by the priest from 1958 to 1975. In reversing the grant of
summary judgment to the diocese on grounds of limitations, the South Dakota Supreme Court
recognized that if a trust or conﬁdentlia] relationship existed between the diocese and the
plaintiff, then “silence on the part of the_ Diocese is sufficient for this Court to find that the
Diocese fraudulently concealed the cause of action from [plaintiff], thereby tolling the statute of
limitations.” Id. at 906. As to this question, the court found that such a confidential relationship
did exist:

[P]ainﬁft], as a Catholic parishioner and altar bay, was taught to
trust and respect the members of the Diocese. [Plaintiff] put his

trust and faith in the members of the Diocese, and was encouraged
to do so by the Diocese.

This Court has found relationships of trust or confidence several
times in the past, including the relationship between doctor and
patient, architect and client, attorney and client, and tenants in
common. Certainly if there is a trust relationship in those instances
there must also be one between a Diocese and the members of the
faith it purports to serve.

1d. (internal citations omitted). Accordingly, because the summary judgment evidence raised a
question of material fact as to the diocese’s knowledge of the abuse by the priest, the court
reversed the summary judgment dismissing the diocese from the suit. Jd,

For the reasons discussed above in Part VII.C, the existence of a confidential relationship
between the parties is also a question of fact for the jury that cannot be resolved by summary

Jjudgment here. Because Defendants -- like the diocese in Koenig -- also stood by silently, that
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silence is “sufficient for this Court to find that the Diocese fraudulently concealed the cause of

action from [plaintiff], thereby tolling the statute of limitations.™® Jd.

3. Doe TV was not clearly “aware” of the sexual abuse by Katinas, and even if he

was, fraudulent concealment still tolls Doe 1V’s claims agajnst Defendants.

Defendants have nﬁt‘éhallenged and cannot negate any of the evidence of their fraudulent

concealment, discussed in detail above. Im;teaél,' in é. __la‘st-ciit“ch ‘effort to defeat Doe IV’s
frandulent concealment defense, Holy Triﬁity resorts to telying, once again, on its contention that
Dee IV indisputably knew he };é&“ a cause of action because he was “aware of the abuse.” (HT
Motion at 22) As demonstrated abové in Part VI.A, however, the summary judgment evidence
raises a question of fact regarding Doe IV’s awareness of the sexual abuse, and this fact question
is alone sufficient to defeat Defendants’ motions in their entirety.

For this reason, Holy Trinity’s reliance on the Texas Supreme Court’s brief discussion of
fraudulent concealment in S.¥. v. R.V., 933 §.W.2d 1, has no application here. (See H'T Motion
at 22-23) In 8.V, the plaintiff intervened in her parents’ divorce proceeding alleging that her
father was negligent by sexually abusing her while she was'a minor. S.¥,, 933 SSW.2d at 3.
Unlike this case, however, there was no third-party (e.g., the diocese and local church) who made
that sexual abuse possible and who helped conceal their role in the abuse after the fact.

In any event, any awareness on the part of Doe IV about Katinas’s sexual abuse and the

resulting injury still would not be sufficient to preclude application of the doctrine of fraudulent

?® Because Defendants have not conclusively negated the existence of a fiduciary duty as a matter
of law and undisputed fact for the reasons discussed in Part VII.C, their silence or failure to disclose can
suffice to support Doe IV’s fraudulent concealment defense. See, e.g., Haberstick v. Goron A. Gundaker
Real Estate Co., 921 8.W.2d 108, 109 (Mo. Ct. App. 1996) (acts and other non-verbal conduct can be the
equivalent of affirmative misrepresentations on which fraudulent concealment can rest). Further,
Defendants’ acts of placing Katinas in parishes where he would have unsupervised access to minors
equates to an affirmative representation that Katinas was an upstanding and reputable priest and that
Defendants did not know that Katinas had a history of sexually abusing young boys or that he was a
danger to minors. )
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concealment against Defendants. Rather, as the court recognized in Secter, because Doe IV had
“no clue” that Defcaa-ants had prior knowleage of Katinas’s sexual propensities, and “neither
knew nor had reason to know that he had a potential cause of actien” against the dioceses for
causing tortious irijuiy to 'h-im,_ihe ‘doct.ripe of ﬁ'aﬁdulent concealment applies to _jhe .'
circumstances here regm'd]eés- of whether Doe—If;f ‘was consciously aware of Katinas’s abuse at
the time. See Secter, 966 S.W.2d ét-'290;sge aféo Koenig, 527 N.W.2d at 506 (“[S]ilence on the
part of the Diocese is sufficient for this Court to find that the Diocese frandulently concealed the
cause action from fplaintiff], thereby tolling the statute of limitations.”). In fact, Doe IV did not
know -- and had uc; reason to suspect -- that Defendants were responsible for transferring Katinas;
to Dallas after allegations of sexual abuse were raised against him in his Illinois parish. For
these reasons, fraudulent concealment operates to toll the limitations period here, and
Defendants’ motions for summary judgment should therefore be denied.

Finally, where there js a duty to disclose a fact, the failure to disclose that fact is legally
equivalent to a representation of the non-existence of that fact. See, e.g., Playboy Enters. v.
Editorial Caballero, S.A. de C.V., 202 S.W.3d.250,‘259~60 (Tex. App.--Corpus Christi 2006, pet
denied) (upholding jury verdict finding defendant liable for fraudulent concealment where
evidence supported the imposition of a duty by defendant to disclose material facts to plaintiff
regarding parties’ business dealings). As discussed in detail above, whether Katinas and
Defendants had a fiduciary duty to Doe IV is, at least, a question of fact for the jury to decide in
this case. See Part VIL.C. Here, despite knowing the danger Katinas posed to the community at
large, the Defendants did not wamn Doe IV, his mother, the parishioners of Doe IV’s
congregation or other congregations, or the citizens of Dallas that they had placed a known

sexual predator in their midst. Instead, Defendants remained silent in the fact of a moral,
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spiritual, and legal duty to disclose what they knew about Katinas’s scandal-laden history. They
failed to a}sclose what they knew and failed to offer any assistance to Doe IV, deSpité knowing
that he (and others like him) were likely to be more in a long line of victims left by Katinas.
Ra_ﬂ_lsr, to complete theﬁd'ovef-Up and ensuré tﬁat the pattern of sexual abuse wou]d_ g(.)rﬁndetected
by the public at large (as it }iad in th-e past), Defendants conspired with and assisted Katinas by
remaining silent and transfen-i_r_lg hnn from parish to parish where he sexually abused other
young boys. In so doing, Defendants concealed facts that Doe IV needed to know to pursue a
claim against Defendants. See Martinelli, 196 F.3d at 426 (evidence that diocese failed to warn
or mfc;nn parishioners of priest’s conduct was sufficient to establish fraudulent ;:oncealment
defense).

E. Defendants Are Estopped from Asserting Their Limitations Defense.

For similar reasons, Defendants are estopped from asserting their limitations defense
under the circumstances here. Estoppel is a concept based in equity -- the main principle of
which is “to do justice when the application of routine legal principles reaches an unjust result,”
Cook v. Smith, 673 S'W.2d 232, 236 ("fex. App.--Dallas 1984, writ ref’d n.r.e.). Estoppel may be
invoked to defeat a claim of limitations in two ways. First, “a potential defendant’s concealment
of facts from a plaintiff which facts are necessary for the plaintiff to know to pursue a cause of
action may prove fatal to the defense of limitations.” Rendon v. Roman Catholic Diocese of
Amarillo, 60 S.W.3d 389, 391 (Tex. App.—Amarillo 2001, pet. denied); see Leonard v. Eskew,
731 S.W.2d 124, 128 (Tex. App.--Austin 1987, writ ref’d n.r.e.). Second, a plaintiff may defeat
a limitations defense by establishing that the defendant engaged in conduct that induced the

plaintiff to forego a timely suit regarding a claim that the plaintiff knew existed. Rendon, 60

S.W.3d at 391.
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1. The summary judgment eviderice raises a fact issue regardmg the elements of
Dae 1I’s estoppel defense.

To invoke equitable estoppel to prevent a defendant from relying on a limitations

defense, a plaintiff must show -(or raise a fact issue showing): (l) a false representation or
conceql-ment of a mateﬁal_fact; (2) made with knowledge, actual o}-consn'uctive,—of the fact_s?
(3)to a party Wiﬂloﬁt j{.-nov‘\.;l;adg'e or the means of knowledge of the real facts; (4) with .i:he
intention that it shotild have been acted upon; and (5) the party to whom it was made must have”
" relied upon or acted upon it to his prejudice. Cook, 673 S.W.2d at 235. As set forth below, the
sufnmary judgment evidence raises a fact issne concerning the only two elements of that defense
addressed by Holy Trinity — that there was no “fiduciary relationship between [Holy Trinity] and
Doe IV” and Holy Trinity did not “mafk]e representations to [Doe IV] to induce him to delay

filing suit.” (HT Motion at 20-21)

a. A confidential relationship existed between Holv Trinitv and Doe IV.

Holy Trinity is wrong when it suggests that Doe IV may not rely upon estoppel by
concealment because “there was no fiduciary duty between Holy Trinity and Doe IV.” (HT
Motion at 21) Because Defendants are not entitled to summary judgment on the existence of a
fiduciary relationship with Doe IV (see Part VII.C), Holy Trinity cannot avoid Doe IV's estoppel
defense by simply brushing aside its affirmative duty to speak or disclose.

b. Defendants' concealment of material facts caused Doe IV to delay filing
Suit.

Holy Trinity likewise misses the point when it claims that Doe IV “will be unable to
provide proof” of affirmative representation that “induce[d] him to delay filing suit.” (HT
Motion at 2]) Contrary to Holy Trinity’s assertion, the affirmative representations by
Triantafilou are alone sufficient to raise a genuine issue of material fact on Doe IV’s estoppel

defense. See Part V.D. In any event, Doe IV does not need to rely upon any affirmative
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: misrepresentﬁtions by Defendants to establish that he was induced to delay filing suit. Instead,
as Holy Trinity itself recognizes, estoppel may be based on the “concealment of material facts.”

(HT Motion at 20) Thus, Doe IV can also rely on Defendants’ concealment to establish its

estoppel defense.

As set forth above, Dcfcndantswemajﬁed .si]e_;ﬁ in the face of a moral, spiritrl.lalr= and legal
duty to disclose what they knew about Katinas’s scandal-laden history. They failed to ciisclose
what they knew or offer any assistance to Doe IV, despite the fact that they were aware that he
(and others like him) were likely to be more in a long line of victims left by Katinas. They failed
to disclose what they };new to local law enforcement officials. And they failed to disclose what
they knew to members of their respective congregations or the community at large. In so doing,
Defendants concealed facts from Doe IV that were necessary for him to know to pursue a claim
against them, and that concealment is fatal to the defense of limitations heI“B.

VIIL
Prayer 7

WI—IER;EFOR_E, Plaintiff John Doe IV resﬁectfﬁlly prays that the Court deny Defendants,
the Greek Orthodox Archdiocese of America and the Greek Orthodox Metropolis of Denver’s,
Motion for Summary Judgment as to Plaintiff John Doe IV, deny Holy Trinity Greek Orthodox
Church’s Motion for Summary Judgment as to Doe IV’s Claims, and grant Plaintiff such other

and further relief to which he is justly entitled.
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Tahira Khan Merritt
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8499 Greenville Ave., Suite 206
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Phone: 214-503-7300
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Texas Bar No. 12258300
Brett Kutnick

Texas Bar No. 00796913
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Attorneys for Plaintiff John Doe IV

CERTIFICATE, OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing response
was served on this 5th day of September, 2008, via hand-delivery on all counsel of record in

accorddnce with Rule 21a, Texas Rules of Civil Procedure.
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Tahira Khan Merritt
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